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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
There are certain statements within this Report that are not historical facts. These statements are called “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These statements involve important known and unknown
risks, uncertainties and other factors and can be identified by phrases using “estimate,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “project,” “expect,” “intend,” “predict,”
“potential,” “future,” “may,” “will”, “should” and similar expressions or words. Our future results, performance or achievements may differ materially from
the results, performance or achievements discussed in the forward-looking statements. There are numerous factors that could cause actual results to differ
materially from the results discussed in forward-looking statements, including, among others:
 
● Changes in economic conditions, including changes in interest rates, credit availability, financial market performance and our industries can

have adverse effects on its earnings and financial condition, as well as our customers, dealers and suppliers.
  
● Changes in relationships with major customers and suppliers could significantly affect our revenues and profits.
  
● Constrained government budgets may have a negative effect on our business and its operations.
  
● The integration of businesses or assets we have acquired or may acquire in the future involves challenges that could disrupt our business and

harm our financial condition.
  
● When we introduce new products, we may incur expenses that we did not anticipate, such as start-up and recall expenses, resulting in

reduced earnings.
  
● Amendments of the laws and regulations governing our businesses, or the promulgation of new laws and regulations, could have a material

impact on our operations.
  
● We source components from a variety of domestic and global suppliers who may be subject to disruptions from natural or man-made causes.

Disruptions in our supply of components could have a material and adverse impact on our results of operations or financial position.
  
● Changes in the markets we serve may, from time to time, require us to re-configure our production lines or re-locate production of products

between buildings or to new locations in order to maximize the efficient utilization of our production capacity. Costs incurred to effect these
re-configurations may exceed our estimates and efficiencies gained may be less than anticipated.

 
This list provides examples of factors that could affect the results described by forward-looking statements contained in this Report. However, this list is not
intended to be all inclusive. The risk factors disclosed in Item 1A “Risk Factors” of Part II of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in Part I – Item 1A of
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016, include all known risks our management believes could materially affect the results
described by forward-looking statements contained in this Report. However, those risks may not be the only risks we face. Our business, operations, and
financial performance could also be affected by additional factors that are not presently known to us or that we currently consider to be immaterial to our
operations. In addition, new risks may emerge from time to time that may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-
looking statements. We believe that the forward-looking statements contained in this Report are reasonable. However, given these risks and uncertainties, we
cannot provide you with any guarantee that the anticipated results will be achieved. All forward-looking statements in this Report are expressly qualified in
their entirety by the cautionary statements contained in this Section and you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements
contained in this Report as a prediction of actual results. We disclaim any obligation to update or revise information contained in any forward-looking
statement to reflect developments or information obtained after the date this Report is filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Item 1. Financial Statements

 
SPARTAN MOTORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except par value) 

 
  June 30, 2017   December 31,  
  (Unaudited)   2016  
ASSETS         
Current assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 21,240  $ 32,041 
Accounts receivable, less allowance of $176 and $487   81,951   65,441 
Inventories   88,444   58,896 
Income taxes receivable   669   1,287 
Other current assets   5,283   4,526 

Total current assets   197,587   162,191 
         
Property, plant and equipment, net   57,078   53,116 
Goodwill   25,823   15,961 
Intangible assets, net   9,856   6,385 
Other assets   2,788   2,331 
Net deferred tax assets   3,212   3,310 
TOTAL ASSETS  $ 296,344  $ 243,294 
         
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY         
         
Current liabilities:         

Accounts payable  $ 41,991  $ 31,336 
Accrued warranty   19,084   19,334 
Accrued compensation and related taxes   9,862   13,188 
Deposits from customers   33,661   16,142 
Other current liabilities and accrued expenses   11,654   7,659 
Current portion of long-term debt   58   65 

Total current liabilities   116,310   87,724 
         
Other non-current liabilities   4,877   2,544 
Long-term debt, less current portion   22,849   74 

Total liabilities   144,036   90,342 
Commitments and contingencies         
Shareholders' equity:         

Preferred stock, no par value: 2,000 shares authorized (none issued)   -   - 
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 80,000 shares authorized; 35,097 and 34,383 outstanding   351   344 
Additional paid in capital   77,916   76,837 
Retained earnings   74,699   76,428 

Total Spartan Motors, Inc. shareholders’ equity   152,966   153,609 
Non-controlling interest   (658)   (657)

Total shareholders’ equity   152,308   152,952 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY  $ 296,344  $ 243,294 

 
See Accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SPARTAN MOTORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2017   2016   2017   2016  
                 
Sales  $ 169,739  $ 162,537  $ 336,814  $ 296,263 
Cost of products sold   150,232   141,730   300,763   259,635 
Restructuring charges   6   -   156   - 
Gross profit   19,501   20,807   35,895   36,628 
                 
Operating expenses:                 

Research and development   1,524   1,807   3,666   3,031 
Selling, general and administrative   16,503   14,397   31,104   27,962 
Restructuring charges   319   227   812   567 
Total operating expenses   18,346   16,431   35,582   31,560 

                 
Operating income   1,155   4,376   313   5,068 
                 
Other income (expense):                 

Interest expense   (129)   (88)   (393)   (202)
Interest and other income   190   95   280   154 

                 
Total other income (expense)   61   7   (113)   (48)

                 
Income before taxes   1,216   4,383   200   5,020 
                 
Taxes   92   9   175   102 
                 
Net income   1,124   4,374   25   4,918 
                 
Less: net loss attributable to non-controlling interest   -   (5)   (1)   (5)
                 
Net income attributable to Spartan Motors Inc.  $ 1,124  $ 4,379  $ 26  $ 4,923 
                 
Basic net earnings per share  $ 0.03  $ 0.13  $ 0.00  $ 0.14 
                 
Diluted net earnings per share  $ 0.03  $ 0.13  $ 0.00  $ 0.14 
                 
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding   35,127   34,512   34,768   34,396 

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding   35,127   34,512   34,768   34,396 
 

See Accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SPARTAN MOTORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
  Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2017   2016  
Cash flows from operating activities:         

Net income  $ 25  $ 4,918 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:         

Depreciation and amortization   4,690   3,564 
(Gain)/loss on disposal of assets   1   (22)
Accruals for warranty   4,909   5,433 
Deferred income taxes   131   25 
Stock based compensation related to stock awards   1,513   962 
Decrease (increase) in operating assets:         

Accounts receivable   (17,379)   (13,008)
Inventories   32,904   729 
Income taxes receivable   618   441 
Other assets   110   (363)

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:         
Accounts payable   6,740   11,346 
Cash paid for warranty repairs   (7,059)   (5,013)
Accrued customer rebates   57   (605)
Accrued compensation and related taxes   (4,890)   2,478 
Deposits from customers   (25,410)   5,520 
Other current liabilities and accrued expenses   1,089   326 
Other long term liabilities   1,898   - 
Taxes on income   88   12 

Total adjustments   (58)   11,825 
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities   (33)   16,743 
         
Cash flows from investing activities:         

Purchases of property, plant and equipment   (2,438)   (5,794)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   -   23 
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired   (28,915)   - 

Net cash used in investing activities   (31,353)   (5,771)
         
Cash flows from financing activities:         

Proceeds from long-term debt   32,800   10 
Payments on long-term debt   (10,033)   (27)
Purchase and retirement of common stock   -   (2,000)
Payment of dividends   (1,755)   (1,724)
Net cash used in the exercise, vesting or cancellation of stock incentive awards   (427)   (168)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   20,585   (3,909)
         
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   (10,801)   7,063 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   32,041   32,701 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 21,240  $ 39,764 
 

See Accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SPARTAN MOTORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 

  Number of   Common   
Additional

Paid In   Retained   
Non-

Controlling   
Total

Shareholders'  
  Shares   Stock   Capital   Earnings   Interest   Equity  
Balance at December 31, 2016   34,383  $ 344  $ 76,837  $ 76,428  $ (657)  $ 152,952 
                         
Issuance of common stock and the tax
impact of stock incentive plan transactions   5   -   (427)   -   -   (427)
                         
Issuance of restricted stock, net of
cancellation   709   7   (7)   -   -   - 
                         
Dividends declared ($0.05 per share)   -   -   -   (1,755)   -   (1,755)
                         
Stock based compensation expense related
to restricted stock   -   -   1,513   -   -   1,513 
                         
Net income (loss)   -   -   -   26   (1)   25 
                         
Balance at June 30, 2017   35,097  $ 351  $ 77,916  $ 74,699  $ (658)  $ 152,308 
 

 
See Accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SPARTAN MOTORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)
 
NOTE 1 - GENERAL AND SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
For a description of key accounting policies followed, refer to the notes to the Spartan Motors, Inc. (the “Company”, “we”, “our” or “us”) consolidated
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016, included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on March 3, 2017. There have been no changes in such accounting policies as of the date of this report.
 
Spartan Motors, Inc. is a custom engineer and manufacturer of specialized motor vehicle chassis and bodies. Our principal chassis markets are emergency
response vehicles, motor homes and other specialty vehicles. We also manufacture bodies for various markets including emergency response vehicles and
vehicles used in delivery, mobile retail and trades and construction industries.
 
Our operating activities are conducted through our wholly-owned operating subsidiary, Spartan Motors USA, Inc. (“Spartan USA”), with locations in
Charlotte, Michigan; Brandon, South Dakota; Snyder and Neligh, Nebraska; Delavan, Wisconsin; Ephrata, Pennsylvania; Bristol, Indiana; Kansas City,
Missouri; and Saltillo, Mexico. 
 
Our Charlotte, Michigan location manufactures heavy duty chassis and vehicles and supplies aftermarket parts and accessories under the Spartan Chassis and
Spartan ER brand names. Our Brandon, South Dakota; Snyder and Neligh, Nebraska; Delavan, Wisconsin; and Ephrata, Pennsylvania locations manufacture
emergency response vehicles under the Spartan ER, Smeal, US Tanker and Ladder Tower Company brand names. Our Bristol, Indiana location manufactures
vehicles used in the parcel delivery, mobile retail and trades and construction industries, and supplies related aftermarket parts and services under the
Utilimaster brand name. Our Kansas City, Missouri and Saltillo, Mexico locations sell and install equipment used in fleet vehicles. Spartan USA is also a
participant in Spartan-Gimaex Innovations, LLC (“Spartan-Gimaex”), a 50/50 joint venture with Gimaex Holding, Inc. that was formed to provide emergency
response vehicles for the domestic and international markets. Spartan-Gimaex is reported as a consolidated subsidiary of Spartan Motors, Inc. In February
2015, Spartan USA and Gimaex Holding, Inc. mutually agreed to begin discussions regarding the dissolution of the joint venture. In June 2015, Spartan USA
and Gimaex Holding, Inc. entered into court proceedings to determine the terms of the dissolution. In February 2017, by agreement of the parties, the court
proceeding was dismissed with prejudice and the judge entered an order to this effect as the parties agreed to seek a dissolution plan on their own. No
dissolution terms have been determined as of the date of this Form 10-Q.
 
On January 1, 2017, Spartan USA acquired substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of Smeal Fire Apparatus Co., Smeal Properties, Inc., Ladder
Tower Co., and U.S. Tanker Co. When used in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, “Smeal” refers to the assets, liabilities, and operations acquired from such
entities. The assets acquired consist of the assets used by the former owners of Smeal in the operation of its business designing, manufacturing, and
distributing emergency response vehicle bodies and aerial devices for the fire service industry. Smeal has operations in Snyder and Neligh, Nebraska;
Delavan, Wisconsin; and Ephrata, Pennsylvania and is operated as part of our Emergency Response Vehicles segment.
 
The accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements reflect all normal and recurring adjustments that are necessary for the fair
presentation of our financial position as of June 30, 2017, the results of operations for the three and six month periods ended June 30, 2017 and the cash flows
for the six month period ended June 30, 2017, and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and footnotes included in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016.
 
The results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year.
 
We are required to disclose the fair value of our financial instruments in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Codification
relating to “Disclosures about Fair Values of Financial Instruments.” The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable and our variable rate debt instruments approximate their fair value at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016.
 
Certain immaterial amounts in the prior periods’ financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current period’s presentation. These
reclassifications had no impact on previously reported Net income (loss) or Total shareholders’ equity.
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SPARTAN MOTORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)
 
New Accounting Standards
 
In February 2017 the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2017-05, Other Income-Gains and Losses
from the Derecognition of Nonfinancial Assets (Subtopic 610-20) (“ASU 2017-05”). ASU 2017-05 is intended to provide guidance for when gains and losses
on nonfinancial assets should be applied to a financial asset by defining the term “nonfinancial asset”. ASU 2017-05 will go into effect when the revenue
standard issued in ASU 2014-09 becomes effective. We believe that the adoption of the provisions of ASU 2017-05 will not have a material impact on our
consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
 
In January 2017, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2017-04, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for
Goodwill Impairment (“ASU 2017-4”). ASU 2017-4 eliminates the requirement to determine the fair value of individual assets and liabilities of a reporting
unit to measure goodwill impairment. Under the amendments in the new ASU, goodwill impairment testing will be performed by comparing the fair value of
the reporting unit with its carrying amount and recognizing an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s
fair value. The new standard is effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and should be
applied on a prospective basis. Early adoption is permitted for annual or interim goodwill impairment testing performed after January 1, 2017. We believe that
the adoption of the provisions of ASU 2017-04 will not have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
 
In January 2017, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2017-01, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a Business (“ASU
2017-01”), which provides guidance to entities to assist with evaluating when a set of transferred assets and activities (collectively, the "set") is a business and
provides a screen to determine when a set is not a business. Under the new guidance, when substantially all of the fair value of gross assets acquired (or
disposed of) is concentrated in a single identifiable asset, or group of similar assets, the assets acquired would not represent a business. Also, to be considered
a business, an acquisition would have to include an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to produce outputs. The
new standard is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2017, and should be applied on a
prospective basis to any transactions occurring within the period of adoption. Early adoption is permitted for interim or annual periods in which the financial
statements have not been issued. We believe that the adoption of the provisions of ASU 2017-01 will not have a material impact on our consolidated financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.
 
In August 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230) (“ASU 2016-15”). ASU 2016-15 is
intended to reduce diversity in current practice regarding the manner in which certain cash receipts and cash payments are presented and classified in the cash
flow statement. ASU 2016-15 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early
adoption is permitted. We believe that the adoption of the provisions of ASU 2016-15 will not have a material impact on our consolidated financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.
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SPARTAN MOTORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)
 
In June 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments (“ASU 2016-13”). ASU 2016-13 is intended to introduce a revised approach to the recognition and measurement of credit losses, emphasizing an
updated model based on expected losses rather than incurred losses. The provisions of this standard are effective for reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2019 and early adoption is permitted. We believe that the adoption of the provisions of ASU 2016-13 will not have a material impact on our
consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
 
In March 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-09, Compensation – Stock Compensation (“ASU 2016-09”). ASU 2016-09
simplifies the accounting for a stock payment’s tax consequences by requiring the recognition of the income tax effects of awards in the income statement
when the awards vest or are settled. It also allows a company to elect to account for forfeitures as they occur rather than on an estimated basis and revises the
classification of certain tax payments related to stock compensation on the statement of cash flows. ASU 2016-09 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2016, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The impact of our adoption of ASU 2016-09 for the year
ending December 31, 2017 will depend on market factors and the timing and intrinsic value of future stock based compensation award vesting. Our adoption
of ASU 2016-09 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows through June 30, 2017.
 
In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02, Leases (“ASU 2016-02”). The
new standard establishes a right-of-use (“ROU”) model that requires a lessee to record a ROU asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases
with terms longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in
the income statement. The new standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years. A
modified retrospective transition approach is required for lessees for capital and operating leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented in the financial statements, with certain practical expedients available. We are currently evaluating the impact of our pending
adoption of ASU 2016-02 on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
 
In July 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2015-11, Inventory (Topic 330) – Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory (“ASU 2015-11”).
ASU 2015-11 requires entities that measure inventory using the FIFO or average cost methods to measure inventory at the lower of cost or net realizable
value to more closely align the measurement of inventory in GAAP with International Financial Reporting Standards. Net realizable value is defined as
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less reasonably predictable costs of completion and disposal. ASU 2015-11 is effective for public
business entities for fiscal years, and for interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2016. Our adoption of ASU 2015-11 had no
impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
 
In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) (“ASU 2014-09”). ASU 2014-09
is based on the principle that revenue should be recognized to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The new standard also requires additional disclosure about the nature,
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer contracts, including significant judgments and changes in judgments and
assets recognized from costs incurred to obtain or fulfill a contract. ASU 2014-09 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15,
2017, including interim periods within that reporting period, and may be applied retrospectively to each prior period presented or retrospectively with the
cumulative effect recognized as of the date of initial application. Early adoption for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016 is permitted.
On August 12, 2015, FASB delayed the effective date to give companies an extra year to implement the standard. The standard will be effective in 2018, but
companies will have the option of adopting it as of the original 2017 effective date. We have begun the process of analyzing the impact of ASU 2014-09 and
the related ASU’s across all revenue streams to evaluate the impact of the new standard on revenue contracts. Based on the analysis completed to date, we
expect the impact on our accounting for revenue to remain substantially unchanged. We currently expect to adopt the new standard using the modified
retrospective approach, under which the cumulative effect of the initial application of the new guidance will be recognized as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained earnings, in the first quarter of 2018.
 

10



 
 

SPARTAN MOTORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)
 
In March 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-08, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), Principal versus Agent
Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net) (“ASU 2016-08”). ASU 2016-08 clarifies the implementation guidance for principal-versus-agent
considerations in the revenue recognition standard. A principal-versus-agent consideration applies to sales that involve two or more suppliers to a customer.
Each participant in the sale must determine whether they control the good or service and are entitled to the gross amount of the transaction or are acting as an
agent and should collect only a fee or commission for arranging the sale. ASU 2016-08 will go into effect when the revenue standard issued in ASU 2014-09
becomes effective.
 
In April 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-10, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), Identifying Performance
Obligations and Licensing (“ASU 2016-10”). ASU 2016-10 clarifies the implementation guidance in Topic 606 for identifying performance obligations and
determining when to recognize revenue on licensing agreements for intellectual property. ASU 2016-10 removes the requirement to assess whether promised
goods or services are performance obligations if they are immaterial to the contract with the customer and allows an entity to elect to account for shipping and
handling activities that occur after the customer has obtained control of a good as an activity to fulfill the promise to transfer the good rather than as an
additional promised service. ASU 2016-10 also includes implementation guidance on determining whether a license granted by an entity provides a customer
with a right to use the intellectual property, which is satisfied at a point in time, or a right to access the intellectual property, which is satisfied over time. ASU
2016-10 will go into effect when the revenue standard issued in ASU 2014-09 becomes effective.
 
In May 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-12, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), Narrow-Scope
Improvements and Practical Expedients (“ASU 2016-12”). ASU 2016-12 clarifies the implementation guidance on assessing collectability, presentation of
sales taxes, non-cash consideration and completed contracts and contract modifications at transition. ASU 2016-12 will go into effect when the revenue
standard issued in ASU 2014-09 becomes effective.
 
 
NOTE 2 – ACQUISITION ACTIVITIES
 
On January 1, 2017, we completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of Smeal pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement
dated December 12, 2016.
 
This acquisition will bring significant scale to our Emergency Response Vehicles segment, expand the geographic reach of our dealer network and add
complementary products to our existing emergency response product portfolio.
 
Sales and operating income (loss) included in our results since the January 1, 2017 acquisition are as follows:
 

  

Three Months
Ended June 30,

2017   

Six Months
Ended June 30,

2017  
Net sales  $ 35,807  $ 76,469 
Operating loss   (8)   (1,009)
 
 
The above operating loss amounts include a one-time charge to cost of products sold of $0 and $189 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 related
to the fair value step-up of inventories acquired from Smeal and sold during the period.
 
Pro forma Results of Operation (Unaudited)
The following table provides unaudited pro forma net sales and results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, as if Smeal
had been acquired on January 1 of 2016. The unaudited pro forma results reflect certain adjustments related to the acquisition, such as changes in the
depreciation and amortization expense on the Smeal assets acquired resulting from the fair valuation of assets acquired, expenses incurred to complete the
acquisition and the impact of acquisition financing. The pro forma results do not include any anticipated cost synergies or other effects of the planned
integration of Smeal. Accordingly, such pro forma amounts are not necessarily indicative of the results that actually would have occurred had the acquisition
been completed on the date indicated, nor are they indicative of the future operating results of the combined company.
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SPARTAN MOTORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)
 
  Three Months Ended   Six Months Ended  

  
June 30,

2017   
June 30,

2016   
June 30,

2017   
June 30,

2016  
Net sales  $ 169,739  $ 178,227  $ 336,814  $ 328,502 
                 
Net earnings attributable to Spartan Motors, Inc.  $ 2,037  $ 3,924  $ 2,721  $ 3,984 
                 
Diluted net earnings per share  $ 0.06  $ 0.11  $ 0.08  $ 0.12 
 
 
Purchase Price Allocation
The total purchase price paid for our acquisition of Smeal was $42,489, subject to a net working capital adjustment and the tax gross-up payment described
below. The consideration paid consisted of $28,903 in cash, net of cash acquired of $3,825, and the forgiveness of certain liabilities owed by the former
owners of Smeal to the Company in the amount of $7,391. Pursuant to the purchase agreement, the sellers may receive additional consideration in the form of
a tax gross-up payment, which is payable no later than April 1, 2018, and is not expected to exceed $2,400. The consideration paid is subject to certain post-
closing adjustments, including a net working capital adjustment that we expect to finalize in the third quarter of 2017. Smeal has been a significant chassis
customer of Spartan USA. The price paid pursuant to the purchase agreement was the subject of arm's length negotiation between Smeal and us.
 
This acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting with the purchase price allocated to the assets purchased and liabilities assumed
based upon their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. Identifiable intangible assets include trade-names and certain non-patented technology. The
preliminary excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired of $9,862 was recorded as goodwill.
We recorded an estimate for contingent consideration related to the tax gross-up payment, valued in accordance with accounting guidance for business
combinations and fair value measurements at $2,370.
 
The preliminary allocation of purchase price to assets acquired and liabilities assumed is as follows:
 

Cash  $ 3,825 
Accounts receivable   6,523 
Inventory   62,660 
Other current assets   887 
Property, plant and equipment   5,773 
Intangible assets   3,900 
Goodwill   9,862 
Total assets acquired   93,430 
     
Accounts payable   3,935 
Customer prepayments   42,929 
Accrued warranty   1,900 
Other liabilities   2,177 
Total liabilities assumed   50,941 
     
Total purchase price  $ 42,489 
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SPARTAN MOTORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)
 
Contingent Consideration
Pursuant to the purchase agreement, the former owners of Smeal may receive additional consideration in the form of a tax gross-up payment. The purchase
agreement specifies that Spartan will make a payment to the former owners of Smeal to cover certain state and federal tax liabilities for the tax year ending
December 31, 2017 that result from the transaction. The payment is expected to be between $0 and $2,400 and will be based on state and federal income tax
regulations in effect at the time of the payment for the tax year ending December 31, 2017. Under tax rules in effect as of the filing of this Form 10-Q, the
additional consideration would be approximately $2,400. In accordance with accounting guidance for business combinations, the value of the future
consideration was recorded based upon tax rules in effect at the time of the acquisition, discounted to January 1, 2017 using a risk free discount rate of 1%.
Changes in this estimate, other than changes in its present value, will be reflected as adjustments to the purchase price for a period of up to one year after the
closing. Changes in the present value of the contingent consideration will be reflected in operating income in the period of such change.
 
Goodwill Assigned
The acquisition resulted in the recognition, on a preliminary basis, of $9,862 of goodwill, which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. The goodwill
recognized is subject to a final net working capital adjustment and any necessary adjustment to the contingent consideration.
 
Goodwill consists of expected synergies resulting from the acquisition and the estimated value of the workforce employed. Key areas of expected cost savings
include an expanded dealer network; complementary product portfolios; manufacturing and supply chain work process improvements; and the elimination of
redundant corporate overhead.
 
Financing for the Acquisition
Our acquisition of Smeal was financed using $32,800 borrowed from our existing $100,000 line of credit, as set forth in the Second Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2016, by and among us and our affiliates, as borrowers; certain lenders; Wells Fargo Bank, National Association,
as Administrative Agent; and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Bookrunner.
 
Acquisition Related Expenses
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, we recorded pretax charges totaling $60 and $731 for legal expenses and other transaction costs related
to the acquisition. These charges, which were expensed in accordance with the accounting guidance for business combinations, were recorded in “Selling,
general and administrative” and reflected within the “Other” column in the business segment table in Note 10, Business Segments.
 
 
NOTE 3 – INVENTORIES
 
Inventories are summarized as follows:
 
  June 30,   December 31,  
  2017   2016  
Finished goods  $ 15,198  $ 12,743 
Work in process   23,505   14,063 
Raw materials and purchased components   52,850   35,458 
Reserve for slow-moving inventory   (3,109)   (3,368)
Total inventory  $ 88,444  $ 58,896 

 
We have a number of demonstration units used as part of our sales program. These demonstration units are included in the “Finished goods” line item above.
The net carrying amount was $8,450 and $3,558 at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016.
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SPARTAN MOTORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)
 
NOTE 4 – GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
 
Goodwill
As described in Note 2 - Acquisition Activities, we acquired substantially all of the assets and related liabilities of Smeal on January 1, 2017. The difference
between the consideration paid and the acquisition-date fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed was recognized as goodwill, as
disclosed in the table below. Due to the short period of time that has elapsed since the acquisition of Smeal, it is our assessment that the goodwill at Smeal is
not impaired. The goodwill at Smeal will be evaluated as part of the next annual assessment which will occur as of October 1, 2017, unless there is a
triggering event that would necessitate an earlier evaluation.
 
During the second quarter of 2017, operations related to the manufacturing of our Reach delivery vehicle were reassigned to our Specialty Chassis and
Vehicles segment from our Fleet Vehicles and Services segment to reflect the information and reports that our chief operating decision makers use to allocate
resources to and assess the performance of our operating segments. As a result, a portion of the goodwill assigned to our Fleet Vehicles and Services segment
was reassigned to our Specialty Chassis and Vehicles segment using a relative fair value approach.
 
Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill, by reportable segment, are as follows:
 
 

  

Emergency
Response
Vehicles   

Fleet
Vehicles

&
Services   

Specialty
Chassis &
Vehicles   Total  

Balance as of December 31, 2016  $ -  $ 15,961  $ -  $ 15,961 
Acquisition of Smeal   9,862   -   -   9,862 
Reassignment of goodwill   -   (638)   638   - 
Balance as of June 30, 2017  $ 9,862  $ 15,323  $ 638  $ 25,823 
 
 
With the acquisition of Smeal, we acquired other intangible assets besides goodwill. We recorded $3,900 in intangible assets from the acquisition. The
intangible assets consist of unpatented technology and various trade names. The unpatented technology will be amortized using the straight-line method over
its estimated remaining useful life of 10 years, consistent with the pattern of economic benefits estimated to be received. The trade names are considered to
have indefinite lives, and as such will not be amortized but will be tested for impairment annually or if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it is
more likely than not that the trade names are impaired.
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SPARTAN MOTORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)
 
The following table provides information regarding our other intangible assets:
 
  As of June 30, 2017   As of December 31, 2016  

  

Gross
carrying
amount   

Accumulated
amortization   Net   

Gross
carrying
amount   

Accumulated
amortization   Net  

Customer and dealer relationships  $ 6,170  $ 3,528  $ 2,642  $ 6,170  $ 3,348  $ 2,822 
Acquired product development project   1,860   1,341   519   1,860   1,167   693 
Unpatented technology   1,500   75   1,425   -   -   - 
Non-compete agreements   400   400   -   400   400   - 
Backlog   320   320   -   320   320   - 
Trade Names   5,270   -   5,270   2,870   -   2,870 
                         
  $ 15,520  $ 5,664  $ 9,856  $ 11,620  $ 5,235  $ 6,385 
 
We recorded intangible asset amortization expense of $214 and $177 during the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 and $429 and $354 during the six
months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016.
 
The estimated remaining amortization associated with finite-lived intangible assets is expected to be expensed as follows:
 

  Amount  
     
2017  $ 405 
2018   816 
2019   449 
2020   423 
2021   399 
Thereafter   2,094 
Total  $ 4,586 
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SPARTAN MOTORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)
 
NOTE 5 - DEBT
 
Long-term debt consists of the following:
 

  
June 30,

2017   
December 31,

2016  
Line of credit revolver (1):  $ 22,800  $ - 
Capital lease obligations   107   139 

Total debt   22,907   139 
Less current portion of long-term debt   (58)   (65)

Total long-term debt  $ 22,849  $ 74 
 
 

 

(1) On October 31, 2016, we entered into a Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the "Credit Agreement") by and among us, certain of our
subsidiaries, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent ("Wells Fargo"), and the lenders party thereto consisting of Wells
Fargo, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and PNC Bank (the "Lenders"). Under the Credit Agreement, we may borrow up to $100,000 from the Lenders
under a three-year unsecured revolving credit facility. We may also request an increase in the facility of up to $35,000 in the aggregate, subject to
customary conditions. This line carries an interest rate of the higher of either (i) the highest of prime rate, the federal funds effective rate plus 0.5%,
or the one month adjusted LIBOR plus 1.00%; or (ii) adjusted LIBOR plus margin based upon our ratio of debt to earnings from time to time. We
had no borrowings on this line at December 31, 2016. In January 2017, we borrowed $32,800 from our credit line to fund our acquisition of Smeal,
and repaid $10,000 of this borrowing in May 2017. GM and Chrysler have the ability to draw up to $10,000 against our line of credit in relation to
chassis supplied to Spartan USA under chassis bailment inventory programs. The applicable borrowing rate including margin was 2.625% (or one-
month LIBOR plus 1.50%) at June 30, 2017.

 
Under the terms of the primary line of credit agreement, we are required to maintain certain financial ratios and other financial conditions, which limited our
available borrowings under our line of credit to a total of approximately $35,300 and $73,600 at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, net of borrowings
outstanding. The agreement also prohibits us from incurring additional indebtedness; limits certain acquisitions, investments, advances or loans; limits our
ability to pay dividends in certain circumstances; and restricts substantial asset sales. At June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, we were in compliance with
all debt covenants.
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SPARTAN MOTORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)
 
NOTE 6 – RESTRUCTURING
 
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, we incurred restructuring charges related to a company-wide initiative to streamline operations and
integrate our Smeal acquisition.
 
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, we incurred restructuring charges related to efforts undertaken to upgrade production processes at our
Brandon, South Dakota and Ephrata, Pennsylvania locations.
 
Restructuring charges included in our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, broken down by segment, are
as follows:
 
  Three Months Ended June 30, 2017  

  

Emergency
Response
Vehicles   

Fleet
Vehicles

and
Services   

Specialty
Chassis

and
Vehicles   Other   Total  

Cost of products sold                     
Accrual for severance  $ 6  $ -  $ -  $ -   6 
                     
General and Administrative                     
Accrual for severance   4   307   -   8   319 
Total restructuring  $ 10  $ 307  $ -  $ 8  $ 325 
 
  Six Months Ended June 30, 2017  

  

Emergency
Response
Vehicles   

Fleet
Vehicles

and
Services   

Specialty
Chassis

and
Vehicles   Other   Total  

Cost of products sold                     
Accrual for severance  $ 43  $ 97  $ 16  $ -   156 
                     
General and Administrative                     
Accrual for severance   367   315   79   51   812 
Total restructuring  $ 410  $ 412  $ 95  $ 51  $ 968 
 
Restructuring charges for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 reflected within Operating expense in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Operations were $227 and $567 and related to manufacturing process reengineering. All of these charges were related to our Emergency Response Vehicles
segment.
 
The following table provides a summary of the compensation related charges incurred during the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 as part of our
restructuring initiatives, along with the related outstanding balances to be paid in relation to those expenses, which is reflected within Accrued compensation
and related taxes on our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.
 

  Severance  
Balance January 1, 2017  $ - 

Accrual for severance   643 
Payments and adjustments made in period   (201)

Balance March 31, 2017   442 
Accrual for severance   325 
Payments and adjustments made in period   (540)

Balance June 30, 2017  $ 227 
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SPARTAN MOTORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)
 
There were no compensation related charges incurred during the three and six months ended June 30, 2016.
 
 
NOTE 7 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
 
Under the terms of our credit agreement with our banks, we have the ability to issue letters of credit totaling $20,000. At June 30, 2017 and December 31,
2016, we had outstanding letters of credit totaling $1,305 and $1,599 related to certain emergency response vehicle contracts and our workers compensation
insurance.
 
At June 30, 2017, we and our subsidiaries were parties, both as plaintiff and defendant, to a number of lawsuits and claims arising out of the normal course of
our businesses. In the opinion of management, our financial position, future operating results or cash flows will not be materially affected by the final
outcome of these legal proceedings.
 
Chassis Agreements 
We are party to chassis bailment inventory agreements with General Motors Company (“GM”) and Chrysler Group, LLC (“Chrysler”) which allow GM and
Chrysler to draw up to $10,000 against our revolving credit line for chassis placed at our facilities. As a result of these agreements, there was $262 and $784
outstanding on our revolving credit line at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016. Under the terms of the bailment inventory agreements, these chassis never
become our property, and the amount drawn against the credit line will be repaid by a GM or Chrysler dealer at the time an order is placed for one of our
bodies, utilizing a GM or Chrysler chassis. As such, the chassis, and the related draw on the line of credit, are not reflected in the accompanying Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheets.
 
Warranty Related
 
We provide limited warranties against assembly/construction defects. These warranties generally provide for the replacement or repair of defective parts or
workmanship for a specified period following the date of sale. The end users also may receive limited warranties from suppliers of components that are
incorporated into our chassis and vehicles.
 
Certain warranty and other related claims involve matters of dispute that ultimately are resolved by negotiation, arbitration or litigation. Infrequently, a
material warranty issue can arise which is beyond the scope of our historical experience. We provide for any such warranty issues as they become known and
are estimable. It is reasonably possible that additional warranty and other related claims could arise from disputes or other matters beyond the scope of our
historical experience.
 
Changes in our warranty liability during the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:
 
  2017   2016  
Balance of accrued warranty at January 1  $ 19,334  $ 16,610 
Warranties issued during the period   3,839   2,298 
Cash settlements made during the period   (7,059)   (5,013)
Changes in liability for pre-existing warranties during the period, including expirations   1,070   3,135)
Assumed warranties outstanding at Smeal on January 1, 2017   1,900   - 
Balance of accrued warranty at June 30  $ 19,084  $ 17,030 
 
Spartan-Gimaex joint venture
 
In February, 2015, Spartan USA and Gimaex Holding, Inc. mutually agreed to begin discussions regarding the dissolution of the Spartan-Gimaex joint
venture. In June 2015, Spartan USA and Gimaex Holding, Inc. entered into court proceedings to determine the terms of the dissolution. In February 2017, by
agreement of the parties, the court proceeding was dismissed with prejudice and the judge entered an order to this effect as the parties agreed to seek a
dissolution plan on their own. No dissolution terms have been determined as of the date of this Form 10-Q. Through December 31, 2016, we recorded charges
totaling $1,217 to write down certain inventory items associated with this joint venture to their estimated fair values. There were no further charges recorded
during the six months ended June 30, 2017. Costs associated with the wind-down will be impacted by the final dissolution agreement. In accordance with
accounting guidance, the costs we have accrued so far represent the low end of the range of the estimated total charges that we believe we may incur related
to the wind-down. While we are unable to determine the final cost of the wind-down with certainty at this time, we may incur additional charges, depending
on the final terms of the dissolution, and such charges could be material to our future operating results.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)
 
NOTE 8 – EARNINGS PER SHARE
 
The following table presents a reconciliation of the weighted average shares outstanding used in the net earnings per share calculation:
 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2017   2016   2017   2016  
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding   35,127   34,512   34,768   34,396 
                 
Effect of dilutive stock options   -   -   -   - 
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding   35,127   34,512   34,768   34,396 
                 
Anti-dilutive stock awards:                 

Restricted stock   -   -   -   - 
Stock options   9   -   6   - 

                 
Total anti-dilutive stock awards:   9   -   6   - 
 
 
Stock awards noted as anti-dilutive were not included in the basic (Restricted stock awards) and diluted (Stock appreciation rights) weighted average common
shares outstanding.
 
 
NOTE 9 – TAXES
 
Our effective income tax rate was 7.5% and 87.5% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017. Our effective tax rate was 0.2% and 2.0% for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2016. Our effective tax rates during 2017 and 2016 were impacted by the deferred tax asset valuation allowance that we
recorded in 2015, which resulted in a tax rate applied to current earnings of 0% due to our ability to offset current period tax liability against our recorded
valuation allowance. Tax expense of $92 and $175 recorded during the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and $9 and $102 recorded during the three
and six months ended June 30, 2016 result from certain discrete adjustments, including adjustments for uncertain tax positions and a true-up of certain prior
provisions for various state tax liabilities to the amounts reported on the actual tax filings.
 
 
NOTE 10 - BUSINESS SEGMENTS
 
We identify our reportable segments based on our management structure and the financial data utilized by our chief operating decision makers to assess
segment performance and allocate resources among our operating units. We have three reportable segments: Emergency Response Vehicles, Fleet Vehicles
and Services, and Specialty Chassis and Vehicles. As a result of a realignment of our operating segments completed during the second quarter of 2017, certain
fleet vehicles are now manufactured by our Specialty Chassis and Vehicles segment and sold via intercompany transactions to our Fleet Vehicles and Services
segment, which then sells the vehicles to the final customer. Segment results from prior periods are shown reflecting the estimated impact of this realignment
as if it had been in place for those periods.
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Beginning in 2017, we evaluate the performance of our reportable segments based on Adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, and other adjustments made in order to present comparable results from period to period. These adjustments
include restructuring charges and items related to our acquisition of Smeal, such as expenses incurred to complete the acquisition, the impact of fair value
adjustments to inventory acquired from Smeal, and the impact on the timing of the recognition of gross profit for our chassis that are utilized by our recently
acquired Smeal operations. We exclude these items from earnings because we believe they will be incurred infrequently and/or are otherwise not indicative of
a segment's regular, ongoing operating performance. For those reasons, Adjusted EBITDA is also used as a performance metric for our executive
compensation program, as discussed in our proxy statement for our 2017 annual meeting of shareholders, which proxy statement was filed with the SEC on
April 13, 2017.
 
Our Emergency Response Vehicles segment consists of the emergency response chassis operations at our Charlotte, Michigan location and our operations at
our Brandon, South Dakota; Snyder and Neligh, Nebraska; Delavan, Wisconsin; and Ephrata, Pennsylvania locations, along with our Spartan-Gimaex joint
venture. This segment engineers and manufactures emergency response chassis and vehicles.
 
Our Fleet Vehicles and Services segment consists of our operations at our Bristol and Wakarusa, Indiana locations, along with our operations at our up-fit
centers in Kansas City, Missouri and Saltillo, Mexico and focuses on designing and manufacturing walk-in vans for the delivery and service market and the
production of commercial truck bodies along with related aftermarket parts and assemblies.
 
Our Specialty Chassis and Vehicles segment consists of our Charlotte, Michigan operations that engineer and manufacture motor home chassis, defense
vehicles and other specialty chassis and distribute related aftermarket parts and assemblies.
 
Appropriate expense amounts are allocated to the three reportable segments and are included in their reported operating income or loss.
 
The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described, or referred to, in Note 1 - General and Summary of Accounting Policies. Assets and
related depreciation expense in the column labeled “Eliminations and other” pertain to capital assets maintained at the corporate level. Eliminations for inter-
segment sales are shown in the column labeled “Eliminations and other”. Segment loss from operations in the “Eliminations and other” column contains
corporate related expenses not allocable to the operating segments. Interest expense and Taxes on income are not included in the information utilized by the
chief operating decision makers to assess segment performance and allocate resources, and accordingly, are excluded from the segment results presented
below.
 
Three Months Ended June 30, 2017
 

  

Emergency
Response
Vehicles   

Fleet Vehicles
and Services   

Specialty
Chassis and

Vehicles   
Eliminations

and Other   Consolidated  
                     
Emergency response vehicle sales  $ 78,757  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 78,757 
Fleet vehicle sales   -   44,186   427   (427)   44,186 
Motor home chassis sales   -   -   28,162   -   28,162 
Other specialty vehicle sales   -   -   4,193   -   4,193 
Aftermarket parts and accessories sales   2,091   9,344   3,006   -   14,441 
                     
Total sales  $ 80,848  $ 53,530  $ 35,788  $ (427)  $ 169,739 
                     
Depreciation and amortization expense  $ 584  $ 887  $ 263  $ 631  $ 2,365 
Adjusted EBITDA   (652)   6,174   2,765   (3,339)   4,948 
Segment assets   126,459   77,254   22,051   70,580   296,344 
Capital expenditures   535   27   218   303   1,083 
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Three Months Ended June 30, 2016
 

  

Emergency
Response
Vehicles   

Fleet Vehicles
and Services   

Specialty
Chassis and

Vehicles   
Eliminations

and Other   Consolidated  
                     
Emergency response vehicle sales  $ 50,511  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 50,511 
Fleet vehicle sales   -   57,048   1,436   (1,436)   57,048 
Motor home chassis sales   -   -   24,479   -   24,479 
Other specialty vehicle sales   -   -   8,226   -   8,226 
Aftermarket parts and accessories sales   1,867   16,768   3,638   -   22,273 
                     
Total sales  $ 52,378  $ 73,816  $ 37,779  $ (1,436)  $ 162,537 
                     
Depreciation and amortization expense  $ 210  $ 841  $ 123  $ 604  $ 1,778 
Adjusted EBITDA   (253)   7,122   3,383   (2,061)   8,191 
Segment assets   64,364   82,042   28,852   74,515   249,773 
Capital expenditures   304   886   2,052   809   4,051 
 
 
Six Months Ended June 30, 2017
 

  

Emergency
Response
Vehicles   

Fleet Vehicles
and Services   

Specialty
Chassis and

Vehicles   
Eliminations

and Other   Consolidated  
                     
Emergency response vehicle sales  $ 156,742  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 156,752 
Fleet vehicle sales   -   87,328   427   (427)   87,328 
Motor home chassis sales   -   -   54,246   -   54,246 
Other specialty vehicle sales   -   -   9,015   -   9,015 
Aftermarket parts and accessories sales   4,308   20,122   5,053   -   29,483 
                     
Total sales  $ 161,050  $ 107,450  $ 68,741  $ (427)  $ 336,814 
                     
Depreciation and amortization expense  $ 1,136  $ 1,763  $ 573  $ 1,218  $ 4,690 
Adjusted EBITDA   (1,990)   12,417   4,266   (5,557)   9,136 
Segment assets   126,459   77,254   22,051   70,580   296,344 
Capital expenditures   718   276   242   1,202   2,438 
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2016

 

  

Emergency
Response
Vehicles   

Fleet Vehicles
and Services   

Specialty
Chassis and

Vehicles   
Eliminations

and Other   Consolidated  
                     
Emergency response vehicle sales  $ 89,895  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 89,895 
Fleet vehicle sales   -   97,352   1,436   (1,436)   97,352 
Motor home chassis sales   -   -   50,910   -   50,910 
Other specialty vehicle sales   -   -   12,631   -   12,631 
Aftermarket parts and accessories sales   3,621   35,755   6,099   -   45,475 
                     
Total sales  $ 93,516  $ 133,107  $ 71,076  $ (1,436)  $ 296,263 
                     
Depreciation and amortization expense  $ 416  $ 1,715  $ 238  $ 1,195  $ 3,564 
Adjusted EBITDA   (3,371)   13,582   4,978   (4,121)   11,068 
Segment assets   64,364   82,042   28,852   74,515   249,773 
Capital expenditures   684   1,619   2,252   1,239   5,794 
 
The table below presents the reconciliation of our consolidated Adjusted EBITDA to net income. Adjusted EBITDA is not a measurement of our financial
performance under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net income. Adjusted EBITDA may have limitations as an analytical tool and
should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. In addition, although we have excluded certain
charges in calculating Adjusted EBITDA, we may in the future incur expenses similar to these adjustments, despite our assessment that such expenses are
infrequent and/or not indicative of our regular, ongoing operating performance. Our presentation of Adjusted EBITDA should not be construed as an
inference that our future results will be unaffected by unusual or infrequent items.
 

  

Three
Months

Ended June
30, 2017   

Three
Months

Ended June
30, 2016   

Six Months
Ended June

30, 2017   

Six Months
Ended June

30, 2016  
Net income  $ 1,124  $ 4,374  $ 25  $ 4,918 
Add:                 
Interest expense   129   88   393   202 
Taxes   92   9   175   102 
Depreciation and amortization expense   2,365   1,778   4,690   3,564 
EBITDA   3,710   6,249   5,283   8,786 
Add:                 
Restructuring expense   325   227   968   567 
Acquisition expense   60   -   731   - 
Recall expense   -   1,715   -   1,715 
Impact of inventory fair value step-up   -   -   189   - 
Impact of chassis shipments to Smeal   853   -   1,965   - 
Adjusted EBITDA  $ 4,948  $ 8,191  $ 9,136  $ 11,068 
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
 
Spartan Motors, Inc. was organized as a Michigan corporation on September 18, 1975, and is headquartered in Charlotte, Michigan. Spartan Motors began
development of its first product that same year and shipped its first fire truck chassis in October 1975.
 
We are known as a leading, niche market engineer and manufacturer in the heavy-duty, custom vehicles marketplace. Our operating activities are conducted
through our wholly-owned operating subsidiary, Spartan Motors USA, Inc. (“Spartan USA”), with locations in Charlotte, Michigan; Brandon, South Dakota;
Ephrata, Pennsylvania; Snyder and Neligh, Nebraska; Delavan, Wisconsin; Bristol, Indiana; Kansas City, Missouri; and Saltillo, Mexico. Spartan USA was
formerly known as Crimson Fire, Inc.
 
Our Charlotte, Michigan location manufactures heavy duty chassis and vehicles and supplies aftermarket parts and accessories under the Spartan Chassis and
Spartan ER brand names. Our Brandon, South Dakota; Snyder and Neligh, Nebraska; Delavan, Wisconsin; and Ephrata, Pennsylvania locations manufacture
emergency response vehicles under the Spartan ER, Smeal, US Tanker and Ladder Tower Company brand names. Our Bristol, Indiana location manufactures
vehicles used in the parcel delivery, mobile retail and trades and construction industries, and supplies related aftermarket parts and services under the
Utilimaster brand name. Our Kansas City, Missouri and Saltillo, Mexico locations sell and install equipment used in fleet vehicles. Spartan USA is also a
participant in Spartan-Gimaex Innovations, LLC (“Spartan-Gimaex”), a 50/50 joint venture with Gimaex Holding, Inc. that was formed to provide emergency
response vehicles for the domestic and international markets. Spartan-Gimaex is reported as a consolidated subsidiary of Spartan Motors, Inc. In February
2015, Spartan USA and Gimaex Holding, Inc. mutually agreed to begin discussions regarding the dissolution of the joint venture. In June 2015, Spartan USA
and Gimaex Holding, Inc. entered into court proceedings to determine the terms of the dissolution. In February 2017, by agreement of the parties, the court
proceeding was dismissed with prejudice and the judge entered an order to this effect as the parties agreed to seek a dissolution plan on their own. No
dissolution terms have been determined as of the date of this Form 10-Q.
 
Our business strategy is to further expand and diversify product lines and develop innovative design, engineering and manufacturing expertise in order to be
the best value producer of specialty vehicle products. We have an innovative team focused on building lasting relationships with our customers. This is
accomplished by striving to deliver premium specialty chassis and vehicles, vehicle components, and services that inspire customer loyalty. Our
diversification across several sectors creates numerous opportunities while minimizing overall risk. Additionally, our business model provides the agility to
quickly respond to market needs, take advantage of strategic opportunities when they arise and correctly size operations to ensure stability and growth.
 
Recent Acquisition
 
On January 1, 2017, we completed our acquisition of essentially all of the assets and certain liabilities of Smeal Fire Apparatus Co., Smeal Properties, Inc.,
Ladder Tower Co., and U.S. Tanker Co. (collectively, “Smeal”) pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement dated December 12, 2016. The assets acquired
consist of the assets used by Smeal in the operation of its business designing, manufacturing, and distributing vehicles, components, and apparatus for the fire
service industry. This acquisition will bring significant scale to our Emergency Response Vehicles segment, expand the geographic reach of our dealer
network and add complementary products to our existing emergency response product portfolio. Please see Note 2 - Acquisition Activities, of the Notes to
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Item 1 of this Form 10-Q for more information regarding this acquisition.
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Executive Overview
 ● Revenue of $169.7 million in the second quarter of 2017, an increase of 4.4% compared to $162.5 million in the second quarter of 2016.
 ● Gross profit of $19.5 million in the second quarter of 2017, a decrease of 6.3% compared to $20.8 million in the second quarter of 2016.
 ● Gross Margin of 11.5% in the second quarter of 2017, compared to 12.8% in the second quarter of 2016.

 ● Operating expense of $18.3 million, or 10.8% of sales in the second quarter of 2017, compared to $16.4 million or 10.1% of sales in the second
quarter of 2016.

 ● Operating income of $1.2 million in the second quarter of 2017, compared to $4.4 million in the second quarter of 2016.
 ● Net income of $1.1 million in the second quarter of 2017, compared to $4.4 million in the second quarter of 2016.
 ● Income per share of $0.03 in the second quarter of 2017, compared to $0.13 in the second quarter of 2016.
 ● Order backlog of $372.8 million at June 30, 2017, an increase of $68.8 million, or 22.6% from our backlog of $304.0 million at June 30, 2016.
 

 
We believe we are well positioned to take advantage of long-term opportunities, and continue our efforts to bring product innovations to each of the markets
that we serve. Some of our recent innovations and strategic developments include:
 
 ● Our diversified business model. We believe the major strength of our business model is market diversity and customization. Our Fleet

Vehicles and Specialty Chassis and Vehicles segments serve mainly business and consumer markets, effectively diversifying our company and
complementing our Emergency Response Vehicles segment, which primarily serves governmental entities. Additionally, the fleet vehicle
market is an early-cycle industry, complementary to the late-cycle emergency response vehicle industry. We intend to continue to pursue
additional areas that build on our core competencies in order to further diversify our business.

   
 ● Our acquisition of Smeal, completed in January 2017 which will bring significant scale to our Emergency Response Vehicles segment, expand

the geographic reach of our dealer network and add complementary products to our existing emergency response product portfolio.
   
 ● The development of our new facility in Kansas City, Missouri which will support Ford Transit van equipment up-fit operations for our current

customer base.
   
 ● Our Spartan Select and 180 truck programs, designed to provide the custom apparatus that emergency response professionals need with

unprecedented order-to-delivery cycle times as short as 180 days.
   
 ● Spartan Connected Care, a new mobile application that provides owners of motor homes built on Spartan chassis with instant access to a pre-

trip inspection checklist, coach-specific diagnostic codes and an interactive map to locate the closest Spartan authorized service center.
Spartan Connected Care also provides notifications of events and rallies where owners can meet with Spartan engineers and service
technicians, and participate in training sessions.

   
 ● The introduction of the Velocity, a new delivery vehicle design that combines the productivity of a walk-in van for multi-stop deliveries with

the superior fuel economy of the Ford Transit chassis.
   
 ● The expansion of our alliance with Isuzu to include the assembly of Isuzu’s new F-Series truck. This expanded relationship demonstrates

Isuzu’s confidence in Spartan’s quality, people, flexibility and expertise and provides another positive example of our successful execution of
our multi-year plan for improving performance.

   
 ● The strength of our balance sheet, which includes robust working capital, low debt and access to credit through our revolving line of credit.
 
The following section provides a narrative discussion about our financial condition and results of operations. The comments should be read in conjunction
with our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes thereto included in Item 1 of this Form 10-Q and in conjunction with our Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 3, 2017.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the components of the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations as a percentage
of sales (percentages may not sum due to rounding):
 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2017   2016   2017   2016  
Sales   100.0   100.0   100.0   100.0 
Cost of products sold   88.5   87.2   89.3   87.6 
Restructuring charge   0.0   0.0   0.0   0.0 
Gross profit   11.5   12.8   10.7   12.4 
Operating expenses:                 
Research and development   0.9   1.1   1.0   1.0 
Selling, general and administrative   9.7   8.9   9.2   9.4 
Restructuring charge   0.2   0.1   0.2   0.2 
Operating income   0.7   2.7   0.1   1.7 
Other income (expense), net   0.0   0.0   0.0   0.0 
Income before taxes   0.7   2.7   0.1   1.7 
Taxes   0.1   0.0   0.1   0.0 
Net earnings   0.7   2.7   0.0   1.7 
 
 
Quarter Ended June 30, 2017 Compared to the Quarter Ended June 30, 2016
 
Sales
For the quarter ended June 30, 2017, we reported consolidated sales of $169.7 million, compared to $162.5 million for the second quarter of 2016 an increase
of $7.2 million or 4.4%. This increase reflects a $28.5 million sales increase in our Emergency Response Vehicles segment driven by our acquisition of Smeal
on January 1, 2017, which was partially offset by decreases of $20.3 million in our Fleet Vehicles and Services segment and $1.0 million in our Specialty
Chassis and Vehicles segment. Please refer to our segment discussion below for more information about sales within our segments.
 
Cost of Products Sold
Cost of products sold was $150.2 million in the second quarter of 2017, compared to $141.7 million in the second quarter of 2016, an increase of $8.5 million
or 6.0%. Cost of products sold increased by $6.6 million due to the higher sales volumes and $4.6 million due to the product mix in 2017. These increases
were partially offset by a $1.6 million decrease in warranty related expenses due to one-time accruals recorded in 2016 that did not recur and a $1.1 million
decrease due to manufacturing efficiencies realized in 2017. As a percentage of sales, cost of products sold increased to 88.5% in the second quarter of 2017,
compared to 87.2% in the second quarter of 2016. 300 basis points of the increase was driven by the product mix in 2017. Partially offsetting the product mix
was a decrease in warranty and recall expense in 2017 that reduced cost of products sold by 100 basis points and manufacturing efficiencies that reduced cost
of products sold by 70 basis points.
 
Gross Profit
Gross profit was $19.5 million for the second quarter of 2017, compared to $20.8 million for the second quarter of 2016, a decrease of $1.3 million, or 6.3%,
mainly due to the product mix in 2017. Gross margin decreased to 11.5% from 12.8% over the same time period, due to the product mix, which was partially
offset by a decrease in warranty and recall expenses and improved manufacturing efficiencies as discussed above.
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Operating Expenses
Operating expense was $18.3 million for the second quarter of 2017, compared to $16.4 million for the second quarter of 2016, an increase of $1.9 million or
11.6%. Research and development expense in the second quarter of 2017 was $1.5 million, compared to $1.8 million in the second quarter of 2016, a decrease
of $0.3 million, or 16.7%, due to savings from restructuring initiatives enacted in 2017. Selling, general and administrative expense was $16.5 million in the
second quarter of 2017, compared to $14.4 million for the second quarter of 2016, an increase of $2.1 million or 14.6%, mainly due to the acquisition of
Smeal in January of 2017. Restructuring charges were $0.3 million in the second quarter of 2017, compared to $0.2 million in the second quarter of 2016, an
increase of $0.1 million, or 50.0%, as a result of a company-wide effort to streamline operations and integrate our Smeal acquisition begun in 2017.
 
Taxes
Our effective income tax rate was 7.5% in the second quarter of 2017, compared to 0.2% in the second quarter of 2016. Our effective tax rates for the second
quarters of 2017 and 2016 were impacted by the deferred tax asset valuation allowance that we recorded in 2015, which resulted in a tax rate applied to
current earnings of 0% due to our ability to offset current period tax liability against our recorded valuation allowance. Tax expense of $0.1 million and $0
recorded in the second quarter of 2017 and 2016 result from certain discrete adjustments, including adjustments for uncertain tax positions and a true-up of
certain prior provisions for various state tax liabilities to the amounts reported on the actual tax filings.
 
Net Earnings
We recorded net earnings of $1.1 million or $0.03 per share for the second quarter of 2017, compared to net earnings of $4.4 million, or $0.13 per share, for
the first quarter of 2016. Driving the decrease in net income for the three months ended June 30, 2017 compared with the prior year were the factors discussed
above.
 
Order Backlog
Our order backlog by reportable segment is summarized in the following table (in thousands).
 

  June 30, 2017   June 30, 2016  
Emergency Response Vehicles  $ 214,794  $ 152,177 
Fleet Vehicles and Services   131,280   139,655 
Specialty Chassis and Vehicles   26,715   12,202 
Total consolidated  $ 372,789  $ 304,034 

 
Our backlog at June 30, 2017 includes $78.1 million related to our acquisition of Smeal in January of 2017. Excluding the Smeal addition, our Emergency
Response Vehicles backlog decreased by $15.5 million, due to a reduction in order intake resulting from a more selective bid process established in 2016 as
part of our turnaround strategy. Our Fleet Vehicles and Services backlog decreased by $8.4 million, mainly due to reduced equipment up-fit orders. Our
Specialty Vehicles and Chassis segment backlog increased by $14.5 million, due to a $14.6 million increase in motor home chassis backlog driven by new
model introductions and pricing adjustments enacted in 2016, offset by a $0.1 million decrease in backlog for aftermarket parts. We anticipate filling our
current backlog orders for our Emergency Response Vehicles segment over the next 13 months, for our Fleet Vehicles and Services segment over the next 9
months and our Specialty Chassis and Vehicles segment over the next 3 months.
 
While orders in the backlog are subject to modification, cancellation or rescheduling by customers, this has not been a major factor in the past. Although the
backlog of unfilled orders is one of many indicators of market demand, several factors, such as changes in production rates, available capacity, new product
introductions and competitive pricing actions, may affect actual sales. Accordingly, a comparison of backlog from period-to-period is not necessarily
indicative of eventual actual shipments.
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 Compared to the Six Months Ended June 30, 2016
 
Sales
For the six months ended June 30, 2017, we reported consolidated sales of $336.8 million, compared to $296.3 million for the same period in 2016 an
increase of $40.5 million or 13.7%. This increase reflects a $67.5 million sales increase in our Emergency Response Vehicles segment driven by our
acquisition of Smeal on January 1, 2017, which was partially offset by decreases of $25.7 million in our Fleet Vehicles and Services segment and $2.3 million
in our Specialty Chassis and Vehicles segment. Please refer to our segment discussion below for more information about sales within our segments.
 
Cost of Products Sold
Cost of products sold was $300.8 million in the six months ended June 30, 2017, compared to $259.6 million in the same period of 2016, an increase of $41.2
million or 15.9%. Our cost of products sold increased by $73.8 million due to the Smeal acquisition completed in January of 2017, with an additional $4.0
million increase due to the product mix in 2017. Partially offsetting these increases were decreases of $32.4 million due to lower unit volumes outside of the
Smeal acquisition, $1.5 million due to manufacturing efficiencies realized in 2017 and $2.6 million due to lower warranty accruals in 2017. As a percentage
of sales, cost of products sold increased to 89.3% in the six months ended June 30, 2017, compared to 87.6% in the same period of 2016, mainly due to
the product mix experienced in 2017.
 
Gross Profit
Gross profit was $35.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2017, compared to $36.6 million for the same period of 2016, a decrease of $0.7 million, or
1.9%, mainly due to the product mix in 2017. Gross margin decreased to 10.7% from 12.4% over the same time period, due to the product mix, which was
partially offset by a decrease in warranty and recall expenses and improved manufacturing efficiencies as discussed above.
 
Operating Expenses
Operating expense was $35.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2017, compared to $31.6 million for the same period of 2016, an increase of $4.0
million or 12.7%. Research and development expense for the six months ended June 30, 2017 was $3.7 million, compared to $3.0 million in the same period
of 2016, an increase of $0.7 million, or 23.3%, due to increased spending on new product development projects in the first quarter, mainly in our Emergency
Response Vehicles segment. Selling, general and administrative expense was $31.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2017, compared to $28.0
million for the same period of 2016, an increase of $3.1 million or 11.1%, mainly due to the acquisition of Smeal in January of 2017. Restructuring charges
were $0.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2017, compared to $0.6 million in the same period of 2016, an increase of $0.2 million, or 33.3%, as a
result of a company-wide effort to streamline operations and integrate our Smeal acquisition begun in 2017.
 
Taxes
Our effective income tax rate was 87.5% for the six months ended June 30, 2017, compared to 2.0% in the same period of 2016. Our effective tax rates for the
six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 were impacted by the deferred tax asset valuation allowance that we recorded in 2015, which resulted in a tax rate
applied to current earnings of 0% due to our ability to offset current period tax liability against our recorded valuation allowance. Tax expense of $0.2 million
and $0.1 million recorded in the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 result from certain discrete adjustments, including adjustments for uncertain tax
positions and a true-up of certain prior provisions for various state tax liabilities to the amounts reported on the actual tax filings.
 
Net Earnings
We recorded net earnings at breakeven for the six months ended June 30, 2017, compared to net earnings of $4.9 million, or $0.14 per share, for the same
period of 2016. Driving the decrease in net income for the six months ended June 30, 2017 compared with the prior year were the factors discussed above.
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Our Segments
We identify our reportable segments based on our management structure and the financial data utilized by our chief operating decision makers to assess
segment performance and allocate resources among our operating units. We have three reportable segments: Emergency Response Vehicles, Fleet Vehicles
and Services, and Specialty Chassis and Vehicles. As a result of a realignment of our operating segments completed during the second quarter of 2017, certain
fleet vehicles are now manufactured by our Specialty Chassis and Vehicles segment and sold via intercompany transactions to our Fleet Vehicles and Services
segment, which then sells the vehicles to the final customer. Segment results from prior periods are shown reflecting the estimated impact of this realignment
as if it had been in place for those periods.
 
Beginning in 2017, we evaluate the performance of our reportable segments based on Adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, and other adjustments made in order to present comparable results from period to period. These adjustments
include restructuring charges and items related to our acquisition of Smeal, such as expenses incurred to complete the acquisition, the impact of fair value
adjustments to inventory acquired from Smeal, and the impact on the timing of the recognition of gross profit for our chassis that are utilized by our recently
acquired Smeal operations. We exclude these items from earnings because we believe they will be incurred infrequently and/or are otherwise not indicative of
a segment's regular, ongoing operating performance. For those reasons, Adjusted EBITDA is also used as a performance metric for our executive
compensation program, as discussed in our proxy statement for our 2017 annual meeting of shareholders, which proxy statement was filed with the SEC on
April 13, 2017.
 
The table below presents the reconciliation of our consolidated Adjusted EBITDA to net income. Adjusted EBITDA is not a measurement of our financial
performance under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net income. Adjusted EBITDA may have limitations as an analytical tool and
should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. In addition, although we have excluded certain
charges in calculating Adjusted EBITDA, we may in the future incur expenses similar to these adjustments, despite our assessment that such expenses are
infrequent and/or not indicative of our regular, ongoing operating performance. Our presentation of Adjusted EBITDA should not be construed as an
inference that our future results will be unaffected by unusual or infrequent items.
 

  

Three
Months

Ended June
30, 2017   

Three
Months

Ended June
30, 2016   

Six Months
Ended June

30, 2017   

Six Months
Ended June

30, 2016  
Net income  $ 1,124  $ 4,374  $ 25  $ 4,918 
Add:                 
Interest expense   129   88   393   202 
Taxes   92   9   175   102 
Depreciation and amortization expense   2,365   1,778   4,690   3,564 
EBITDA   3,710   6,249   5,283   8,786 
Add:                 
Restructuring expense   325   227   968   567 
Acquisition expense   60   -   731   - 
Recall expense   -   1,715   -   1,715 
Impact of inventory fair value step-up   -   -   189   - 
Impact of chassis shipments to Smeal   853   -   1,965   - 
Adjusted EBITDA  $ 4,948  $ 8,191  $ 9,136  $ 11,068 
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Our Emergency Response Vehicles segment consists of the emergency response chassis operations at our Charlotte, Michigan location and our operations at
our Brandon, South Dakota; Snyder and Neligh, Nebraska; Delavan, Wisconsin; and Ephrata, Pennsylvania locations, along with our Spartan-Gimaex joint
venture. This segment engineers and manufactures emergency response chassis and vehicles.
 
Our Fleet Vehicles and Services segment consists of our operations at our Bristol, Indiana location, along with our operations at our up-fit centers in Kansas
City, Missouri and Saltillo, Mexico and focuses on designing and manufacturing walk-in vans for the parcel delivery, mobile retail, and trades and
construction industries, and supplies related aftermarket parts and services under the Utilimaster brand name
 
Our Specialty Chassis and Vehicles segment consists of our Charlotte, Michigan operations that engineer and manufacture motor home chassis, defense
vehicles, the Reach delivery van and other specialty chassis and distribute related aftermarket parts and accessories.
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For certain financial information related to each segment, see Note 10 - Business Segments, of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
appearing in Item 1 of this Form 10-Q.
 
 
Emergency Response Vehicles 
 

Financial Data  
(Dollars in Thousands)  

  Three Months Ended June 30,  
  2017   2016  
  Amount   %   Amount   %  
                 
Sales  $ 80,848   100.0%  $ 52,378   100.0%
                 
Adjusted EBITDA   (652)   (0.8)%  (253)   (0.5)%
 
  Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2017   2016  
  Amount   %   Amount   %  
                 
Sales  $ 161,050   100.0%  $ 93,516   100.0%
                 
Adjusted EBITDA   (1,990)   (1.2)%  (3,371)   (3.6)%
                 
Segment assets   126,459       64,364     
 
 
Comparison of the Three Month Periods Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
 
Sales in our Emergency Response Vehicles segment were $80.8 million in the second quarter of 2017, compared to $52.4 million in the same period of 2016,
an increase of $28.4 million, or 54.2%, driven by the acquisition of Smeal in January of 2017. Pricing changes added approximately $0.9 million of additional
revenue in 2017 compared to 2016.
 
Adjusted EBITDA for our Emergency Response Vehicles segment was $(0.7) million in the second quarter of 2017, compared to $(0.3) million in the second
quarter of 2016, a decrease of $0.4 million, or 133.3%, driven by the product mix in the second quarter of 2017 compared to the prior year, which was
partially offset by the pricing changes discussed above.
 
 
Comparison of the Six Month Periods Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
 
Sales in our Emergency Response Vehicles segment were $161.1 million in the six months ended June 30, 2017 compared to $93.5 million in the same period
of 2016, an increase of $67.6 million, or 72.3%, driven by the acquisition of Smeal in January of 2017. Pricing changes added approximately $1.0 million of
additional revenue in 2017 compared to 2016.
 
Adjusted EBITDA for our Emergency Response Vehicles segment was $(2.0) million in the six months ended June 30, 2017, compared to $(3.4) million in
the same period of 2016, an improvement of $1.4 million, or 41.2%. $1.0 million of the improvement was due to the pricing changes realized in 2017, while
$0.4 million was due to manufacturing efficiencies in 2017 resulting from prior restructuring initiatives.
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Fleet Vehicles and Services
 

Financial Data  
(Dollars in Thousands)  

  Three Months Ended June 30,  
  2017   2016  
  Amount   %   Amount   %  
                 
Sales  $ 53,530   100.0% $ 73,816   100.0%
                 
Adjusted EBITDA   6,174   11.5%  7,122   9.6%
 
  Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2017   2016  
  Amount   %   Amount   %  
                 
Sales  $ 107,450   100.0% $ 133,107   100.0%
                 
Adjusted EBITDA   12,417   11.6%  13,582   10.2%
                 
Segment assets   77,254       82,082     
 
Comparison of the Three Month Periods Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
 
Sales in our Fleet Vehicles and Services segment were $53.5 million for the second quarter of 2017, compared to $73.8 million for the second quarter of 2016,
a decrease of $20.3 million or 27.5% driven by decreases of $12.9 million in vehicle sales due to lower unit volume and $7.4 million in parts sales due to
lower revenue from our up-fit business. There were no changes in pricing of products sold by our Fleet Vehicles and Services segment that had a significant
impact on our financial statements when comparing the second quarter of 2017 to the second quarter of 2016.
 
Adjusted EBITDA in our Fleet Vehicles and Services segment for the second quarter of 2017 was $6.2 million compared to $7.1 million in the second quarter
of 2016, a decrease of $0.9 million or 12.7%. This was driven by a $5.4 million decrease due to lower sales volumes, which was partially offset by increases
of $2.5 million due to the product mix in 2017 and $2.0 million due to cost reduction and productivity improvements.
 
Comparison of the Six Month Periods Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
 
Sales in our Fleet Vehicles and Services segment were $107.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2017, compared to $133.1 million for the same
period of 2016, a decrease of $25.6 million or 19.2% driven by a $10.0 million decrease in vehicle sales due to lower unit volume in 2017 and $15.6 million
in aftermarket parts and accessories sales due to lower equipment up-fit volume. There were no changes in pricing of products sold by our Fleet Vehicles and
Services segment that had a significant impact on our financial statements when comparing the first six months of 2017 to the first six months of 2016.
 
Adjusted EBITDA in our Fleet Vehicles and Services segment for the six months ended June 30, 2017 was $12.4 million compared to $13.6 million for the
same period of 2016, a decrease of $1.2 million or 8.8%. This was driven by an $11.7 million decrease due to lower unit volume, which was partially offset
by increases of $6.4 million due to the product mix in 2017 and $4.1 million due to cost reduction and productivity improvements implemented in 2017.
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Specialty Chassis and Vehicles
 

Financial Data  
(Dollars in Thousands)  

  Three Months Ended June 30,  
  2017   2016  
  Amount   %   Amount   %  
                 
Sales  $ 35,788   100.0% $ 37,779   100.0%
                 
Adjusted EBITDA   2,765   7.7%  3,383   9.0%
 
  Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2017   2016  
  Amount   %   Amount   %  
                 
Sales  $ 68,741   100.0% $ 71,076   100.0%
                 
Adjusted EBITDA   4,266   6.2%  4,978   7.0%
                 
Segment assets   22,051       28,852     
 
Comparison of the Three Month Periods Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
 
Sales in our Specialty Chassis and Vehicles segment were $35.8 million in the second quarter of 2017, compared to $37.8 million in 2016, a decrease of $2.0
million or 5.3%. This decrease was due to a decrease of $4.0 million in sales of other specialty vehicles driven by a defense order that was fulfilled in 2016
and did not recur, along with a decrease of $1.0 million in fleet vehicle inter-segment sales due to lower unit volume in 2017 and a $0.6 million decrease in
sales of aftermarket parts and accessories. These decreases were partially offset by a $3.7 million increase in sales of motor home chassis driven by higher
unit volumes in 2017. There were no changes in pricing of products sold by our Specialty Chassis and Vehicles segment that had a significant impact on our
financial statements when comparing the second quarter of 2017 to the second quarter of 2016.
 
Adjusted EBITDA for our Specialty Chassis and Vehicles segment for the first quarter of 2017 was $2.8 million, compared to $3.4 million in the same period
of 2016, a decrease of $0.6 million, or 17.6%, mainly due to the completion of a defense order in 2016 that did not recur in 2017.
 
 
Comparison of the Six Month Periods Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
 
Sales in our Specialty Chassis and Vehicles segment were $68.7 million in the six months ended June 30, 2017, compared to $71.1 million in the same period
of 2016, a decrease of $2.4 million or 3.4%. This decrease was due to a decrease of $3.6 million in sales of other specialty vehicles driven by a defense order
that was fulfilled in 2016 and did not recur, along with a decrease of $1.0 million in fleet vehicle inter-segment sales due to lower unit volume in 2017 and a
$1.1 million decrease in sales of aftermarket parts and accessories. These decreases were partially offset by a $3.3 million increase in sales of motor home
chassis driven by higher unit volumes in 2017. There were no changes in pricing of products sold by our Specialty Chassis and Vehicles segment that had a
significant impact on our financial statements when comparing the six months ended June 30, 2017 to the same period of 2016.
 
Adjusted EBITDA for our Specialty Chassis and Vehicles segment for the six months ended June 30, 2017 was $4.3 million, compared to $5.0 million in the
same period of 2016, a decrease of $0.7 million, or 14.0%, mainly due to the completion of a defense order in 2016 that did not recur in 2017.
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Financial Condition
 
Balance Sheet at June 30, 2017 compared to December 31, 2016
 
Cash decreased by $10.8 million, or 33.8%, to $21.2 million at June 30, 2017 from $32.0 million at December 31, 2016. Please see the discussion of cash
flow activity below for more information on our sources and uses of cash in the first six months of 2017.
 
Accounts receivable increased by $16.6 million, or 25.4%, to $82.0 million at June 30, 2017, compared to $65.4 million at December 31, 2016. The increase
is the result of increases of $12.3 million due to higher sales volume in the latter half of the second quarter of 2017 compared to sales in the latter half of the
fourth quarter of 2016 and receivables of $11.7 million acquired with Smeal. These increases were partially offset by the forgiveness of a $7.4 million
receivable owed by the former owners of Smeal to Spartan as part of the consideration for our acquisition of Smeal in January of 2017.
 
Inventory increased by $29.5 million, or 50.1%, to $88.4 million at June 30, 2017 compared to $58.9 million at December 31, 2016 mainly due to the addition
of Smeal inventory of $30.4 million at June 30, 2017.
 
Property, plant and equipment, net increased by $4.0 million, or 7.5%, to $57.1 million at June 30, 2017 compared to $53.1 million at December 31, 2016
mainly due to the acquisition of Smeal during the year.
 
Goodwill increased by $9.8 million, or 61.3%, to $25.8 million at June 30, 2017 compared to $16.0 million at December 31, 2016 due to the Smeal
acquisition.
 
Intangible assets increased by $3.5 million, or 54.7%, to $9.9 million at June 30, 2017 compared to $6.4 million at December 31, 2016 due to an increase of
$3.9 million from trade-names and certain non-patented technology acquired from Smeal, partially offset by amortization during the period.
 
Accounts payable increased by $10.7 million or 34.2% to $42.0 million at June 30, 2017 compared to $31.3 million at December 31, 2016. $3.5 million of the
increase was due to accounts payable assumed through our acquisition of Smeal, with the remainder of the increase due to the timing of payments and the
ramp up in production following our traditional year-end shut down in December.
 
Accrued compensation and related taxes decreased by $3.3 million or 25.0% to $9.9 million at June 30, 2017 compared to $13.2 million at December 31,
2016 due to the payout of accrued 2016 incentive compensation in the first quarter.
 
Deposits from customers increased by $17.6 million or 109.3% to $33.7 million at June 30, 2017 compared to $16.1 million at December 31, 2016. The
increase was due to prepayments of $31.1 million assumed through our acquisition of Smeal, partially offset by more prepayments applied to invoices than
received at our Emergency Response Vehicles segment.
 
Other current liabilities and accrued expenses increased by $4.0 million, or 51.9%, to $11.7 million at June 30, 2017 from $7.7 million at December 31, 2016,
with $3.0 million of the increase due to liabilities assumed through our acquisition of Smeal, and the remainder due to the timing of accruals for various
expenses incurred but not yet invoiced.
 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
 
Cash Flows
 
Cash and cash equivalents decreased by $10.8 million to $21.2 million at June 30, 2017, compared to $32.0 million at December 31, 2016. These funds, in
addition to cash generated from future operations and available credit facilities, are expected to be sufficient to finance the Company’s foreseeable liquidity
and capital needs.
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Cash Flow from Operating Activities
 
For the six months ended June 30, 2017, we generated $0.0 million of cash from operating activities, which represents a $16.7 million decrease from the
$16.7 million of cash that was generated by operations for the six months ended June 30, 2016. The decrease in cash generated in 2017 results from changes
in working capital requirements, particularly accounts receivable, inventory and deposits from customers.
 
See the Financial Condition section contained in Item 2 of this Form 10-Q for further information regarding balance sheet line items that drove cash flows for
the six month period ended June 30, 2017. Also see the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows contained in Item 1 of this Form 10-Q for the
other various factors that represented the remaining fluctuation of cash from operations between the periods.
 
 
Cash Flow from Investing Activities
 
We utilized $31.4 million in investing activities in the first six months of 2017, a $25.6 million increase compared to the $5.8 million utilized in the first six
months of 2016. This increase is mainly the result of our acquisition of Smeal during the year.
 
During the remainder of 2017 we expect to make additional cash capital investments of $9.0 million to $11.0 million, including capital spending for the
replacement and upgrades of machinery and equipment used in operations and the implementation of our ERP system.
 
 
Cash Flow from Financing Activities
 
We generated $20.6 million of cash through financing activities in the first six months of 2017, compared to $3.9 million utilized in the first six months of
2016. This increase is due to the financing of our acquisition of Smeal from our existing $100 million line of credit on January 1, 2017 offset by a $10.0
million payment on this facility in May 2017.
 
 
Working Capital
 
Our working capital was as follows (in thousands):
 
 

  June 30, 2017   December 31, 2016   Change  
             
Current assets  $ 197,587  $ 162,191  $ 35,396 
             
Current liabilities   116,310   87,724   28,586 
             
Working capital  $ 81,277  $ 74,467  $ 6,810 

 
 
The increase in our working capital at June 30, 2017 from December 31, 2016, results from changes in accounts receivable and inventory, which were
partially offset by increases in accounts payable, accrued compensation and related taxes, and deposits from customers. Refer to the balance sheet discussion
appearing above in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for an explanation of the causes of the material
changes in working capital line items.
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Contingent Obligations
 
Spartan-Gimaex joint venture
In February 2015, Spartan USA and Gimaex Holding, Inc. mutually agreed to begin discussions regarding the dissolution of the Spartan-Gimaex joint
venture. In June 2015, Spartan USA and Gimaex Holding, Inc. entered into court proceedings to determine the terms of the dissolution. In February 2017, by
agreement of the parties, the court proceeding was dismissed with prejudice and the judge entered an order to this effect as the parties agreed to seek a
dissolution plan on their own. No dissolution terms have been determined as of the date of this Form 10-Q. In the fourth quarters of 2015 and 2014, we
accrued charges totaling $1.0 million and $0.2 million to write down certain inventory items associated with this joint venture to their estimated fair values.
Costs associated with the wind-down will be impacted by the final dissolution agreement. The costs we have accrued so far represent the low end of the range
of the estimated total charges that we believe we may incur related to the wind-down. While we are unable to determine the final cost of the wind-down with
certainty at this time, we may incur additional charges, depending on the final terms of the dissolution, and such charges could be material to our results.
 
Smeal contingent consideration
In connection with our acquisition of Smeal in January, 2017, the former owners of Smeal may receive additional consideration in the form of a tax gross-up
payment. The purchase agreement specifies that Spartan will make a payment to the former owners of Smeal to cover certain state and federal tax liabilities
for the tax year ending December 31, 2017 that result from the transaction. The payment is expected to be between $0 and $2.4 million and will be based on
state and federal income tax regulations in effect at the time of the payment for the tax year ending December 31, 2017. Under tax rules in effect as of the
filing of this Form 10-Q, the additional consideration would be approximately $2.4 million. In accordance with accounting guidance for business
combinations, the value of the future consideration was recorded based upon tax rules in effect at the time of the acquisition, discounted to January 1, 2017
using a risk-free discount rate of 1%. Changes in this estimate, other than changes in its present value, will be reflected as adjustments to the purchase price
for a period of up to one year after the closing. Changes in the present value of the contingent consideration will be reflected in operating income in the period
of such change.
 
 
Debt
 
On October 31, 2016, we entered into a second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the "Credit Agreement") by and among us, certain of our
subsidiaries, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent ("Wells Fargo"), and the lenders party thereto consisting of Wells Fargo,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and PNC Bank (the "Lenders"). Under the Credit Agreement, we may borrow up to $100 million from the Lenders under a
three-year unsecured revolving credit facility. We may also request an increase in the facility of up to $35 million in the aggregate, subject to customary
conditions. The credit facility is available for the issuance of letters of credit of up to $20 million, swing line loans of up to $15 million and revolving loans,
subject to certain limitations and restrictions. Interest rates on borrowings under the credit facility are based on either (i) the highest of the prime rate, the
federal funds effective rate from time to time plus 0.5%, or the one month adjusted London interbank market rate ("LIBOR") plus 1.0%; or (ii) adjusted
LIBOR plus a margin based upon our ratio of debt to earnings from time to time. The Credit Agreement contains certain customary representations and
covenants, including performance-based financial covenants on our part. The credit facility matures October 31, 2019, following which we have the option to
renew the credit facility, subject to lender approval, for two successive one-year periods with an ultimate maturity date of October 31, 2021. Commitment fees
range from 17.5 to 32.5 basis points on the unused portion of the line. In January 2017, we borrowed $32.8 million from our credit line to fund our acquisition
of Smeal, and repaid $10.0 million of this borrowing in May 2017. We had no drawings against this credit line as of December 31, 2016. During the quarter
ended June 30, 2017, and in future years, our revolving credit facility was utilized, and will continue to be utilized, to finance commercial chassis received
under chassis bailment inventory agreements with General Motors Company (“GM”) and Chrysler Group, LLC (“Chrysler”). This funding is reflected as a
reduction of the revolving credit facility available to us equal to the amount drawn by GM and Chrysler. See Note 7, Commitments and Contingent Liabilities,
in the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Item 1 of this Form 10-Q for further details about these chassis bailment inventory
agreements. The applicable borrowing rate including margin was 2.625% (or one-month LIBOR plus 1.50%) at June 30, 2017.
 
Under the terms of our credit agreement with our banks, we have the ability to issue letters of credit totaling $20.0 million. At June 30, 2017 and
December 31, 2016, we had outstanding letters of credit totaling $1.3 million and $1.6 million related to certain emergency response vehicle contracts and our
workers compensation insurance.
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Under the terms of the line of credit and the term notes detailed above, we are required to maintain certain financial ratios and other financial conditions,
which limited our available borrowings under our line of credit to a total of approximately $35.3 million at June 30, 2017 and $73.6 million at December 31,
2016, net of borrowings outstanding. The agreements prohibit us from incurring additional indebtedness; limit certain acquisitions, investments, advances or
loans; limit our ability to pay dividends in certain circumstances; and restrict substantial asset sales. At June 30, 2017, we were in compliance with all debt
covenants, and, based on our current outlook for 2017, we expect to be able to meet these financial covenants over the next twelve months.
 
We had capital lease obligations outstanding of $0.1 million as of June 30, 2017 due and payable over the next five years.
 
 
Equity Securities
 
On April 28, 2016, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 1.0 million shares of our common stock in open market transactions. At June 30,
2017 there were 1.0 million shares remaining under this repurchase authorization. If we were to repurchase the remaining 1.0 million shares of stock under
the repurchase program, it would cost us $9.0 million based on the closing price of our stock on July 28, 2017. We believe that we have sufficient resources to
fund any potential stock buyback in which we may engage.
 
 
Dividends
 
The amounts or timing of any dividend distribution are subject to earnings, financial condition, liquidity, capital requirements and such other factors as our
Board of Directors deems relevant.
 
On May 3, 2017 our Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.05 per share of common stock, which was paid on June 15, 2017 to shareholders of
record on May 15, 2017.
 
On November 2, 2016 our Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.05 per share of common stock, which was paid on December 15, 2016 to
shareholders of record on November 15, 2016.
 
On April 28, 2016 our Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.05 per share of common stock, which was paid on June 23, 2016 to shareholders of
record on May 19, 2016.
 
The aggregate amount of dividends paid in 2016 was $3.4 million.
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
The following discussion of critical accounting policies is intended to supplement Note 1 - General and Summary of Accounting Policies, of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Item 8 in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 3,
2017. These policies were selected because they are broadly applicable within our operating units, and they involve additional management judgment due to
the sensitivity of the methods, assumptions and estimates necessary in determining the related income statement, asset and/or liability amounts.
 
Revenue Recognition - We recognize revenue in accordance with authoritative guidelines, including those of the SEC. Accordingly, revenue is recognized
when title to the product and risk of ownership passes to the buyer. On certain customer requested bill and hold transactions, revenue recognition occurs after
the customer has been notified that the products have been completed according to the customer specifications, have passed all of our quality control
inspections, and are ready for delivery. All sales are shown net of returns, discounts and sales incentive programs, which historically have not been
significant. The collectability of any related receivable is reasonably assured before revenue is recognized.
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Accounts Receivable - We maintain an allowance for customer accounts that reduces receivables to amounts that are expected to be collected. In estimating
the allowance for doubtful accounts, we make certain assumptions regarding the risk of uncollectable open receivable accounts. This risk factor is applied to
the balance on accounts that are aged over 90 days: generally this reserve has an estimated range from 10-25%. The risk percentage applied to the aged
accounts may change based on conditions such as: general economic conditions, industry-specific economic conditions, historical and anticipated customer
performance, historical experience with write-offs and the level of past-due amounts from year to year. However, generally our assumptions are consistent
year-over-year and there has been little adjustment made to the percentages used. In addition, in the event there are certain known risk factors with an open
account, we may increase the allowance to include estimated losses on such “specific” account balances. The “specific” reserves are identified by a periodic
review of the aged accounts receivable. If there is an account in question, credit checks are made and there is communication with the customer, along with
other means to try to assess if a specific reserve is required. The inclusion of the “specific” reserve has caused the greatest fluctuation in the allowance for
doubtful accounts balance historically. Please see Note 1 - General and Summary of Accounting Policies, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
contained in Item 8 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 for further details.
 
Goodwill and Other Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets – We perform our annual impairment testing for goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets as
of October 1 of each year, or more frequently if an event occurs or conditions change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the asset below
its carrying value. At June 30, 2017 we reported goodwill in our Emergency Response Vehicles, Fleet Vehicles and Services, and Specialty Chassis and
Vehicles segments. At December 31, 2016, all of our goodwill related to our Fleet Vehicles and Services reportable segment. Our reportable segments were
also determined to be the reporting units for goodwill impairment testing at October 1, 2016.
 
The date of our most recently completed annual impairment testing was October 1, 2016. We performed a two-step impairment test, whereby the first step
was comparing the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. The fair value of the reporting unit was determined by
estimating the future cash flows of the reporting unit to which the goodwill relates, and then discounting the future cash flows at a market-participant-derived
weighted-average cost of capital. Based on the results of the first step of our two-step impairment test we determined that the fair value of our Fleet Vehicles
and Services reporting unit exceeded its carrying costs, and accordingly, there was no impairment of goodwill at the annual testing date.
 
We completed our most recent annual impairment testing for our indefinite-lived intangible asset, which consisted of our Utilimaster trade name, as of
October 1, 2016 by comparing the estimated fair value of the trade name with its carrying value. We estimated the fair value of the trade name based on
estimates of future royalty payments that are avoided through our ownership of the trade name, discounted to their present value. Based on the results of our
impairment testing, we determined that the fair value of the trade name exceeded its carrying cost at October 1, 2016, and accordingly, there was no
impairment at the annual testing date.
 
With our January 1, 2017 acquisition of Smeal we acquired additional indefinite lived intangible assets in the form of various trade names.
 
Since October 1, 2016, there have been no events or changes in circumstances that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of any of our reporting
units or our indefinite-lived intangible assets below their respective carrying costs.
 
We cannot predict the occurrence of certain events or changes in circumstances that might adversely affect the carrying value of goodwill and indefinite-lived
intangible assets. Such events may include, but are not limited to, the impact of the general economic environment; a material negative change in
relationships with significant customers; strategic decisions made in response to economic and competitive conditions; and other risk factors as detailed in
Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016.
 
See Note 1, General and Summary of Accounting Policies and Note 5, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 and Note 4, Goodwill and Intangible Assets in the Notes to Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements contained in Item 1 of this Form 10-Q for further details on our accounting policies and other information regarding goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets.
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Warranties - Our policy is to record a provision for the estimated cost of warranty-related claims at the time of the sale, and periodically adjust the warranty
liability to reflect actual experience. The amount of warranty liability accrued reflects actual historical warranty cost, which is accumulated on specific
identifiable units. From that point, there is a projection of the expected future cost of honoring our obligations under the warranty agreements. Historically,
the cost of fulfilling our warranty obligations has principally involved replacement parts and labor for field retrofit campaigns and recalls, which increase the
reserve. Our estimates are based on historical experience, the number of units involved and the extent of features and components included in product models.
Over time, this method has been consistently applied and has proven to be an appropriate approach to estimating future costs to be incurred. See also Note 7 –
Commitments and Contingent Liabilities, of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Item 1 of this Form 10-Q, for further
information regarding warranties.
 
Provision for Income Taxes 
We account for income taxes under a method that requires deferred income tax assets and liabilities to be recognized using enacted tax rates for the effect of
temporary differences between the book and tax bases of recorded assets and liabilities. Authoritative guidance also requires deferred income tax assets,
which include state tax credit carryforwards, operating loss carryforwards and deductible temporary differences, be reduced by a valuation allowance if it is
more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized.
 
We evaluate the likelihood of realizing our deferred income tax assets by assessing our valuation allowance and by adjusting the amount of such allowance, if
necessary. The factors used to assess the likelihood of realization include our forecast of future taxable income, the projected reversal of temporary
differences and available tax planning strategies that could be implemented to realize the net deferred income tax assets.
 
We recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the
taxing authorities. The determination is based on the technical merits of the position and presumes that each uncertain tax position will be examined by the
relevant taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. Although management believes the estimates are reasonable, no assurance can be
given that the final outcome of these matters will not be different than what is reflected in the historical income tax provisions and accruals.
 
Interest and penalties attributable to income taxes are recorded as a component of income taxes. 
 
 
EFFECT OF INFLATION
 
Inflation affects us in two principal ways. First, our revolving note payable is generally tied to the prime and LIBOR interest rates so that increases in those
interest rates would result in additional interest expense. Second, general inflation impacts prices paid for labor, parts and supplies. Whenever possible, we
attempt to cover increased costs of production and capital by adjusting the prices of our products. However, we generally do not attempt to negotiate inflation-
based price adjustment provisions into our contracts. Since order lead times can be more than twelve months, we have limited ability to pass on cost increases
to our customers on a short-term basis. In addition, the markets we serve are competitive in nature, and competition limits our ability to pass through cost
increases in many cases. We strive to minimize the effect of inflation through cost reductions and improved productivity.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
 
Our primary market risk exposure is a change in interest rates and the effect of such a change on outstanding variable rate short-term and long-term debt. At
June 30, 2017, we had $22.8 million of debt outstanding under our variable rate short-term and long-term debt agreements. An increase of 1% in interest rates
would increase our interest expense by approximately $0.1 million for the remaining six months of 2017. We do not enter into market-risk-sensitive
instruments for trading or other purposes.
 
We do not believe that there has been a material change in the nature or categories of the primary market risk exposures or the particular markets that present
the primary risk of loss to us. As of the date of this report, we do not know of or expect any material changes in the general nature of our primary market risk
exposure in the near term. In this discussion, “near term” means a period of one year following the date of the most recent balance sheet contained in this
report.
 
Prevailing interest rates and interest rate relationships are primarily determined by market factors that are beyond our control. All information provided in
response to this item consists of forward-looking statements. Reference is made to the section captioned “Forward-Looking Statements” before Part I of this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for a discussion of the limitations on such statements.
 
 
Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
 
An evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934) as of June 30, 2017. Based on and as of the time of such evaluation, our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the
Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.
 
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended June 30, 2017 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II.  OTHER INFORMATION

 
 

Item 1A. Risk Factors
 
We have included in Part I, Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016, a description of certain risks and
uncertainties that could affect our business, future performance or financial condition (the “Risk Factors”). There have been no material changes from the
disclosure provided in the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 with respect to the Risk Factors. Investors should consider the Risk Factors prior
to making an investment decision with respect to our stock.
 
 
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
 
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
 
On April 28, 2016, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 1.0 million shares of our common stock in open market transactions. During the
quarter ended June 30, 2017 no shares were repurchased under this authorization.
 
During the quarter ended June 30, 2017 there were no shares delivered by associates in satisfaction of tax withholding obligations that occurred upon the
vesting of restricted shares.
 

Period  

Total
Number of

Shares
Purchased   

Average
Price Paid
per Share   

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly

Announced Plans or
Programs   

Number of Shares
that

May Yet Be
Purchased

Under the Plans or
Programs (1)  

April 1 to April 30   -  $ -   -   1,000,000 
May 1 to May 31   -   -   -   1,000,000 
June 1 to June 30   -   -   -   1,000,000 
Total   -  $ -   -   1,000,000 
 
 (1) This column reflects the number of shares that may yet be purchased pursuant to the April 28, 2016 Board authorization described above.
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Item 6. Exhibits.
 
      (a)      Exhibits.  The following documents are filed as exhibits to this report on Form 10-Q:
 

Exhibit No.  Document
   

3.1  Spartan Motors, Inc. Restated Articles of Incorporation, as amended to date.
   

31.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
   

31.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
   

32  Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350.
   

101.INS  XBRL Instance Document
   

101.SCH  XBRL Schema Document
   

101.CAL  XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document
   

101.DEF  XBRL Definition Linkbase Document
   

101.LAB  XBRL Label Linkbase Document
   

101.PRE  XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document
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SIGNATURES
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
 
Date:  August 2, 2017 SPARTAN MOTORS, INC.  
   
   
   
 By /s/ Frederick J. Sohm  
  Frederick J. Sohm

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION
 

I, Daryl M. Adams, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Spartan Motors, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
 a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
 b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
 c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
 d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
 a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably

likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
 b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.
 
Date:  August 2, 2017 /s/ Daryl M. Adams
 Daryl M. Adams

President and Chief Executive Officer
Spartan Motors, Inc.

 



EXHIBIT 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION
 

I, Frederick J. Sohm, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Spartan Motors, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
 a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
 b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
 c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
 d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
 a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
 b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal

control over financial reporting.
 
Date:  August 2, 2017 /s/ Frederick J. Sohm
 Frederick J. Sohm

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Spartan Motors, Inc.



EXHIBIT 32
 

CERTIFICATION
 

Each of the undersigned hereby certifies in his capacity as an officer of Spartan Motors, Inc. (the “Company”), pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 that:
 
1. The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the period ended June 30, 2017 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of

Section 13(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m); and
 
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition at the end of such period and results of

operations of the Company for such period.
 
Dated:  August 2, 2017 /s/ Daryl M. Adams
 Daryl M. Adams

President and Chief Executive Officer
  
  
  
Dated:  August 2, 2017 /s/ Frederick J. Sohm
 Frederick J. Sohm

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
 



Exhibit 3.1
 

RESTATED ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION
 

OF
 

SPARTAN MOTORS, INC.
 

1.     These Restated Articles of Incorporation have been duly adopted by the shareholders of Spartan Motors, Inc. and are executed pursuant to the
provisions of Sections 641-643, Act 284, Public Acts of 1972, as amended.
 

2.     The corporation identification number (CID) assigned by the Bureau is 162-372.
 

3.     The present name of the corporation is:
 

SPARTAN MOTORS, INC.
 

4.     The corporation has had no former names.
 

5.     The date of filing the original Articles of Incorporation was August 27, 1975.
 

6.     The following Restated Articles of Incorporation supersede the original Articles of Incorporation as amended and shall be the Articles of
Incorporation of the corporation:
 

ARTICLE I
 

The name of the corporation is:
 

SPARTAN MOTORS, INC.
 

ARTICLE II
 

The purpose or purposes for which the corporation is organized is to engage in any activity within the purposes for which corporations may
be organized under the Michigan Business Corporation Act.
 

To conduct and be engaged in the business of manufacturing, producing, and sale, at wholesale and retail, of specialized motor vehicles and
motor vehicle equipment and parts and all other related items.
 

To make, perform, and carry out contracts of every kind and description pertaining to the purpose of this corporation and for any lawful
purposes necessary and expedient thereto with any person, firm, association, or corporation.
 

To acquire, own, hold, buy, sell and in every other manner deal in the shares of stock of other corporations, and to exchange shares of its
own capital stock for any of the things, rights, and properties which it might otherwise lawfully acquire and hold.
 

To make contracts with any of the officers, directors, shareholders, or employees of this corporation, individually or otherwise, and without
limitation, restriction, or prejudice, which contracts shall be considered and construed on the same basis as contracts with third persons, all in furtherance of
the management, operation, objects, and purposes of the corporation.
 

To borrow and to issue bonds, debentures, notes, and other evidences of indebtedness and obligations from time to time for any lawful
corporate purpose and to mortgage, pledge, and otherwise charge any or all of its properties, rights, privileges, and assets to secure the payment thereof.
 

ARTICLE III
 

The total number of shares of which the corporation shall have the authority to issue is eighty-two million (82,000,000),1 divided into two classes, as
follows:
 

(1)     Eighty million (80,000,000) shares of common stock of the par value of One Cent ($.01), which shall be called "Common Stock;" and
 

(2)     Two million (2,000,000) shares of preferred stock, having no par value, which shall be called "Preferred Stock."
 

The following provisions shall apply to the authorized stock of the corporation:
 

A.     Provisions Applicable To Common Stock.
 

1.     No Preference. None of the shares of the Common Stock shall be entitled to any preferences, and each share of Common Stock shall
be equal to every other share of said Common Stock in every respect.
 

2.     Dividends. After payment or declaration of full dividends on all shares having a priority over the Common Stock as to dividends, and
after making all required sinking or retirement fund payments, if any, on all classes of preferred shares and on any other stock of the corporation ranking as to
dividends or assets prior to the Common Stock, dividends on the shares of Common Stock may be declared and paid, but only when and as determined by the
Board of Directors.
 

3.     Rights On Liquidation. On any liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the affairs of the corporation, after there shall have been paid
to or set aside for the holders of all shares having priority over the Common Stock the full preferential amounts to which they are respectively entitled, the
holders of the Common Stock shall be entitled to receive pro rata all the remaining assets of the corporation available for distribution to its shareholders.
 



4.     Voting. At all meetings of shareholders of the corporation, the holders of the Common Stock shall be entitled to one vote for each share
of Common Stock held by them respectively.
 

B.     Provisions Applicable To Preferred Stock.
 

1.     Issuance In Series. The authorized shares of Preferred Stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series, each of such series
to have such designations, powers, preferences, and relative, participating, optional, or other rights, and such qualifications, limitations, or restrictions, as may
be stated in a resolution or resolutions providing for the issue of such series adopted by the Board of Directors. Authority is hereby expressly granted to the
Board of Directors, subject to the provision of this Article, to authorize the issuance of any authorized and unissued shares of Preferred Stock (whether or not
previously designated as shares of a particular series, and including shares of any series issued and thereafter acquired by the corporation) as shares of one or
more series of Preferred Stock, and with respect to each series to determine and designate by resolution or resolutions providing for the issuance of such
series:
 

(a)     The number of shares to constitute the series and the title thereof;
 

(b)     Whether the holders shall be entitled to cumulative or noncumulative dividends, and, with respect to shares entitled to cumulative
dividends, the date or dates from which such dividends shall be cumulative, the rate of the annual dividends thereon (which may be fixed or variable
and may be made dependent upon facts ascertainable outside of the Restated Articles of Incorporation), the dates of payment thereof, and any other
terms and conditions relating to such dividends;

 
(c)     Whether the shares of such series shall be redeemable, and, if redeemable, whether redeemable for cash, property, or rights, including

securities of any other corporation, and whether redeemable at the option of the holder or the corporation or upon the happening of a specified event,
the limitations and restrictions with respect to such redemption, the time or times when, the price or prices or rate or rates at which, the adjustments
with which, and the manner in which such shares shall be redeemable, including the manner of selecting shares of such series for redemption if less
than all shares are to be redeemed, and the terms and amount of a sinking fund, if any, provided for the purchase or redemption of such shares;

 
(d)     Whether the shares of such series shall be participating or nonparticipating, and, with respect to participating shares, the date or dates

from which the dividends shall be participating, the rate of the dividends thereon (which may be fixed or variable and may be made dependent upon
facts ascertainable outside of the Restated Articles of Incorporation), the dates of payment thereof, and any other terms and conditions relating to
such additional dividends;

 
(e)     The amount per share payable to holders upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the affairs of the

corporation;
 

(f)     The conversion or exchange rights, if any, of such series, including, without limitation, the price or prices, rate or rates, and provisions
for the adjustment thereof (including provisions for protection against the dilution or impairment of such rights), and all other terms and conditions
upon which shares constituting such series may be converted into, or exchanged for, shares of any other class or classes or series;

 
(g)     The voting rights per share, if any, of each such series, provided that in no event shall any shares of any series be entitled to more than

one vote per share; and
 

(h)     All other rights, privileges, terms, and conditions that are permitted by law and are not inconsistent with this Article.
 

All shares of Preferred Stock shall rank equally and be identical in all respects except as to the matters specified in this Article or any
amendment thereto, or the matters permitted to be fixed by the Board of Directors, and all shares of any one series thereof shall be identical in every particular
except as to the date, if any, from which dividends on such shares shall accumulate.
 

2.     Dividends. The holders of shares of each series of Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive, when, as, and if declared by the Board of
Directors, dividends at, but not exceeding, the dividend rate fixed for such series by the Board of Directors pursuant to the provisions of this Article.
 

3.     Liquidation Preference. Upon the liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the affairs of the corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary, the
holders of each series of Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive in full out of the assets of the corporation available for distribution to shareholders
(including its capital) before any amount shall be paid to, or distributed among, the holders of Common Stock, an amount or amounts fixed by the Board of
Directors pursuant to the provisions of this Article. If the assets of the corporation legally available for payment or distribution to holders of the Preferred
Stock upon the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the affairs of the corporation are insufficient to permit the payment of the
full preferential amount to which all outstanding shares of the Preferred Stock are entitled, then such assets shall be distributed ratably upon outstanding
shares of the Preferred Stock in proportion to the full preferential amount to which each such share shall be entitled. After payment to holders of the Preferred
Stock of the full preferential amount, holders of the Preferred Stock as such shall have no right or claim to any of the remaining assets of the corporation. The
merger or consolidation of the corporation into or with any other corporation, or the merger of any other corporation into the corporation, or the sale, lease, or
conveyance of all or substantially all of the property or business of the corporation, shall not be deemed to be a dissolution, liquidation, or winding up for
purposes of this Section 3.
 

ARTICLE IV2

 
The address of the current registered office of the corporation is 40600 Ann Arbor Rd. E, Ste. 201, Plymouth, MI 48170. The mailing

address of the corporation is 40600 Ann Arbor Rd. E, Ste. 201, Plymouth, MI 48170.
 

The name of the current resident agent is The Corporation Company.
 

ARTICLE V
 

When a compromise or arrangement or a plan of reorganization of this corporation is proposed between this corporation and its creditors or
any class of them or between this corporation and its shareholders or any class of them, a court of equity jurisdiction within the state, on application of this
corporation or of a creditor or shareholder thereof, or on application of a receiver appointed for the corporation, may order a meeting of the creditors or class
of creditors or of the shareholders or class of shareholders to be affected by the proposed compromise or arrangement or reorganization, to be summoned in
such manner as the court directs. If a majority in number representing 3/4 in value of the creditors or class of creditors, or of the shareholders or class of



shareholders to be affected by the proposed compromise or arrangement or a reorganization, agree to a compromise or arrangement or a reorganization of this
corporation as a consequence of the compromise or arrangement, the compromise or arrangement and the reorganization, if sanctioned by the court to which
the application has been made, shall be binding on all of the creditors or class of creditors, or on all of the shareholders or class of shareholders and also on
this corporation.
 

ARTICLE VI
 

Members of the Board of Directors of the corporation shall be selected, replaced, and removed as follows:
 

(1)     Number of Directors. The number of the directors of the corporation shall be fixed from time to time by resolution adopted by a
majority vote of the Board of Directors but shall not be less than three.

 
(2)     Classification. The Board of Directors shall be divided into three classes as nearly equal in number as possible, with the term of office

of one class expiring each year. At each annual meeting of the shareholders, the successors of the class of directors whose term expires at that
meeting shall be elected to hold office for a term expiring at the annual meeting of shareholders held in the third year following the year of their
election.

 
(3)     Vacancies and Newly Created Directorships. Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors caused by resignation, removal, death,

disqualification, or other incapacity, and any newly created directorships resulting from an increase in the number of directors, shall be filled by a
majority vote of directors then in office, whether or not a quorum. Each director chosen to fill a vacancy or a newly created directorship shall hold
office until the next election of the class for which such director shall have been chosen. When the number of directors is changed, any newly created
or eliminated directorships shall be so apportioned by the Board of Directors among the classes as to make all classes as nearly equal in number as
possible. No decrease in the number of directors constituting the Board of Directors shall shorten the term of any incumbent director.

 
(4)     Removal. Any director may be removed from office at any time, but only for cause, and only if removal is approved as set forth

below.
 

Except as may be provided otherwise by law, cause for removal shall be construed to exist only if: (i) the director whose removal is
proposed has been convicted of a felony by a court of competent jurisdiction and such conviction is no longer subject to direct appeal; (ii) such
director has been adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction to be liable for negligence or misconduct in the performance of his duty to the
corporation in a matter of substantial importance to the corporation and such adjudication is no longer subject to direct appeal; (iii) such director has
become mentally incompetent, whether or not so adjudicated, which mental incompetency directly affects his ability as a director of the corporation;
or (iv) such director's actions or failure to act are deemed by the Board of Directors to be in derogation of the director's duties.

 
Whether cause for removal exists shall be determined by the affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the total number of directors. Any action

to remove a director pursuant to (i) or (ii) above shall be taken within one year of such conviction or adjudication. For purposes of this paragraph, the total
number of directors will not include the director who is the subject of the removal determination, nor will such director be entitled to vote thereon.
 

ARTICLE VII
 

The corporation shall indemnify directors and executive officers of the corporation as of right to the fullest extent now or hereafter
permitted by law in connection with any actual or threatened civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative action, suit, or proceeding (whether brought by or
in the name of the corporation, a subsidiary, or otherwise) arising out of their service to the corporation, a subsidiary, or to another organization at the request
of the corporation or a subsidiary. The corporation may indemnify persons who are not directors or executive officers of the corporation to the extent
authorized by bylaw, resolution of the Board of Directors, or contractual agreement authorized by the Board of Directors. The corporation may purchase and
maintain insurance to protect itself and any such director, officer, or other person against any liability asserted against him or her and incurred by him or her
in respect of such service whether or not the corporation would have the power to indemnify him or her against such liability by law or under the provisions
of this paragraph. The provisions of this paragraph shall apply to actions, suits, or proceedings, whether arising from acts or omissions occurring before or
after the adoption of this Article VII, and to directors, officers, and other persons who have ceased to render such service, and shall inure to the benefit of the
heirs, executors, and administrators of the directors, officers, and other persons referred to in this paragraph.
 

ARTICLE VIII
 

A director of the corporation shall not be personally liable to the corporation or its shareholders for monetary damages for breach of the
director's fiduciary duty. However, this Article VIII shall not eliminate or limit the liability of a director for any of the following:
 

(1)     A breach of the director's duty of loyalty to the corporation or its shareholders.
 

(2)     Acts or omissions not in good faith or a t involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law.
 

(3)     A violation of Section 551(1) of the Michigan Business Corporation Act.
 

(4)     A transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.
 

(5)     An act or omission occurring before the effective date of this Article VIII. Any repeal or modification of this Article VIII by the
shareholders of the corporation shall not adversely affect any right or protection of any director of the corporation existing at the time of, or with
respect to, any acts or omissions occurring before such repeal or modification.

 
* * * * * *
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CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATION OF RIGHTS AND PREFERENCES
OF PREFERRED STOCK

 
of

 
SPARTAN MOTORS, INC.

 
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Michigan Business Corporation Act

 
I, Richard J. Schalter, Secretary of Spartan Motors, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Michigan (the

"Corporation"), in accordance with the provisions of Section 302 thereof, DO HEREBY CERTIFY:
 

That pursuant to the authority conferred upon the Board of Directors by the Restated Articles of Incorporation, the Board of Directors on February
27, 1997, adopted the following resolution:
 

RESOLVED, that pursuant to the authority granted to and vested in the Board of Directors of this Corporation in accordance with the provisions of
its Restated Articles of Incorporation, the Board of Directors hereby creates a series of preferred stock, no par value, of the Corporation and hereby states the
designation and number of shares, and voting power, preferences and relative, participating, optional and other special rights, and the qualifications,
limitations and restrictions thereof as follows:
 

SECTION 1. DESIGNATION AND AMOUNT. The shares of such series shall be designated as "Series A Preferred Stock" (the "Preferred Stock")
and the number of shares constituting such series shall be One Hundred Thirty Thousand (130,000). Such number of shares may be increased or decreased by
resolution of the Board of Directors.
 

SECTION 2. DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS.
 

(A)      The holders of shares of Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the Board of Directors out of funds legally
available for such purpose, cumulative preferential dividends in cash on the 15th day of March, June, September and December in each year (each such date
being referred to herein as a "Quarterly Dividend Payment Date") commencing on the first Quarterly Dividend Payment Date after the first issuance of a
share or fraction of a share of Preferred Stock, in an amount per share (rounded to the nearest cent) equal to the greater of (a) $5.00 or (b) subject to the
provision for adjustment hereinafter set forth, 100 times the aggregate per share amount of all cash dividends, and 100 times the aggregate per share amount
(payable in kind) of all noncash dividends or other distributions, other than a dividend payable in shares of Common Stock or a subdivision of the outstanding
shares of Common Stock (by reclassification or otherwise), declared on the Common Stock, $.01 par value, of the Corporation (the "Common Stock") since
the immediately preceding Quarterly Dividend Payment Date or, with respect to the first Quarterly Dividend Payment Date, since the first issuance of any
share or fraction of a share of Preferred Stock. In the event the Corporation shall at any time declare or pay any dividend on the Common Stock payable in
shares of Common Stock, or effect a subdivision or combination of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (by reclassification or otherwise) into a greater
or lesser number of shares of Common Stock, as the case may be, then in each such case the amount to which holders of shares of Preferred Stock were
entitled immediately prior to such event under clause (b) of the preceding sentence shall be adjusted by multiplying such amount by a fraction the numerator
of which is the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after such event and the denominator of which is the number of shares of
Common Stock that were outstanding immediately prior to such event.
 

(B)      The Corporation shall declare a dividend or distribution on the Preferred Stock as provided in paragraph (A) of this Section immediately after
it declares a dividend or distribution on the Common Stock (other than a dividend payable in shares of Common Stock); PROVIDED THAT, in the event no
dividend or distribution shall have been declared on the Common Stock during the period between any Quarterly Dividend Payment Date and the next
subsequent Quarterly Dividend Payment Date, a dividend of $5.00 per share on the Preferred Stock shall nevertheless be payable on such subsequent
Quarterly Dividend Payment Date.
 
(C) Dividends shall begin to accrue and be cumulative on outstanding shares of Preferred Stock from the Quarterly Dividend Payment Date next preceding
the date of issue of such shares of Preferred Stock, unless the date of issue of such shares is prior to the record date for the first Quarterly Dividend Payment
Date, in which case dividends on such shares shall begin to accrue from the date of issue of such shares, or unless the date of issue is a Quarterly Dividend
Payment Date or is a date after the record date for the determination of holders of shares of Preferred Stock entitled to receive a quarterly dividend and before
such Quarterly Dividend Payment Date, in either of which events such dividends shall begin to accrue and be cumulative from such Quarterly Dividend
Payment Date. Accrued but unpaid dividends shall not bear interest. Dividends paid on the shares of Preferred Stock in an amount less than the total amount
of such dividends at the time accrued and payable on such shares shall be allocated pro rata on a share-by-share basis among all such shares at the time
outstanding. The Board of Directors may fix a record date for the determination of holders of shares of Preferred Stock entitled to receive payment of a
dividend or distribution declared thereon, which record date shall be no more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for the payment thereof.
 

SECTION 3. LIQUIDATION RIGHTS. In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, then,
subject to the provisions of the Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Corporation, the holders of shares of Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive, from
the assets of the Corporation available for distribution to shareholders, an amount equal to accrued and unpaid dividends and distributions thereon, whether or
not declared, to the date of such payment plus an amount equal to the greater of (a) $75 per share or (b) an aggregate amount per share, subject to the
provision for adjustment hereinafter set forth, equal to 100 times the aggregate amount to be distributed per share to holders of shares of Common Stock. All
such preferential amounts shall be paid or set apart for payment before the payment or setting apart for payment of any amount for, or the distribution of any
assets of the Corporation to, the holders of shares of any class of stock ranking junior to the Preferred Stock as to assets, or the holders of shares of any series
of preferred stock ranking junior as to assets to shares of Preferred Stock. In the event the Corporation shall at any time declare or pay any dividend on
Common Stock payable in shares of Common Stock, or effect a subdivision or combination of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (by reclassification
or otherwise) into a greater or lesser number of shares of Common Stock, then in each such case the aggregate amount to which holders of shares of Preferred
Stock were entitled immediately prior to such event under clause (b) of the next preceding sentence of this Section shall be adjusted by multiplying such
amount by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after such event and the denominator of
which is the number of shares of Common Stock that were outstanding immediately prior to such event.
 

SECTION 4. REDEMPTION. The shares of Preferred Stock shall not be redeemable.



 
SECTION 5. VOTING RIGHTS. The holders of shares of Preferred Stock shall have the following voting rights:

 
(A)      Subject to the provision for adjustment hereinafter set forth, each share of Preferred Stock shall entitle the holder thereof to 100 votes on all

matters submitted to a vote of the shareholders of the Corporation. In the event the Corporation shall at any time declare or pay any dividend on Common
Stock payable in shares of Common Stock, or effect a subdivision or combination of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (by reclassification or
otherwise) into a greater or lesser number of shares of Common Stock, then in each such case the number of votes per share to which holders of shares of
Preferred Stock were entitled immediately prior to such event shall be adjusted by multiplying such number by a fraction the numerator of which is the
number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after such event and the denominator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock that
were outstanding immediately prior to such event.
 

(B)      Except as otherwise provided herein or by law, the holders of shares of Preferred Stock and the holders of shares of Common Stock shall vote
together as one class on all matters submitted to a vote of shareholders of the Corporation.
 

(C)      (i)      If at any time dividends on any Preferred Stock shall be in arrears in an amount equal to six quarterly dividends thereon, the occurrence
of such contingency shall mark the beginning of a period (herein called a "default period") which shall extend until such time when all accrued and unpaid
dividends for all previous quarterly dividend periods and for the current quarterly dividend period on all shares of Preferred Stock then outstanding shall have
been declared and paid or set apart for payment. During each default period, the holders of Preferred Stock, voting as a class, shall have the right to elect two
(2) Directors.
 

(ii)      During any default period, such voting right of the holders of Preferred Stock may be exercised initially at a special meeting called
pursuant to subparagraph (iii) of this Section 5(C) or at any annual meeting of shareholders, and thereafter at annual meetings of shareholders, provided that
neither such voting right nor the right of the holders of Preferred Stock as hereinafter provided to increase in certain cases the authorized number of Directors
shall be exercised unless the holders of 25% in number of shares of Preferred Stock outstanding shall be present in person or by proxy. The absence of a
quorum of the holders of Common Stock shall not affect the exercise by the holders of Preferred Stock of such voting right. At any meeting at which the
holders of Preferred Stock shall exercise such voting right initially during an existing default period, they shall have the right, voting as a class, to elect
Directors to fill such vacancies, if any, in the Board of Directors as may then exist up to two (2) Directors or, if such right is exercised at an annual meeting, to
elect two (2) Directors. If the number which may be so elected at any special meeting does not amount to the required number, the holders of the Preferred
Stock shall have the right to make such increase in the number of Directors as shall be necessary to permit the election by them of the required number. After
the holders of the Preferred Stock shall have exercised their right to elect Directors in any default period and during the continuance of such period, the
number of Directors shall not be increased or decreased except by vote of the holders of Preferred Stock as herein provided.
 

(iii)      Unless the holders of Preferred Stock shall, during an existing default period, have previously exercised their right to elect Directors,
the Board of Directors may order, or any shareholder or shareholders owning in the aggregate not less than 10% of the total number of shares of Preferred
Stock outstanding may request, the calling of a special meeting of the holders of Preferred Stock, which meeting shall thereupon be called by the President, a
Vice President or the Secretary of the Corporation. Notice of such meeting and of any annual meeting at which holders of Preferred Stock are entitled to vote
pursuant to this paragraph (C)(iii) shall be given to each holder of record of Preferred Stock by mailing a copy of such notice to him at his last address as the
same appears on the books of the Corporation. Such meeting shall be called for a time not earlier than 20 days and not later than 60 days after such order or
request; or in default of the calling of such meeting within 60 days after such order or request, such meeting may be called on similar notice by any
shareholder or shareholders owning in the aggregate not less than 10% of the total number of shares of Preferred Stock outstanding. Notwithstanding the
provisions of this paragraph (C)(iii), no such special meeting shall be called during the period within 60 days immediately preceding the date fixed for the
next annual meeting of the shareholders.
 

(iv)      In any default period the holders of Common Stock, and other classes of stock of the Corporation if applicable, shall continue to be
entitled to elect the whole number of Directors until the holders of Preferred Stock shall have exercised their right to elect two (2) Directors voting as a class,
after the exercise of which right (x) the Directors so elected by the holders of Preferred Stock shall continue in office until their successors shall have been
elected by such holders or until the expiration of the default period, and
(y) any vacancy in the Board of Directors may (except as provided in paragraph (C)(ii) of this Section 5) be filled by vote of a majority of the remaining
Directors theretofore elected by the holders of the class of stock which elected the Director whose office shall have become vacant. References in this
paragraph (C) to Directors elected by the holders of a particular class of stock shall include Directors elected by such Directors to fill vacancies as provided in
clause (y) of the foregoing sentence.
 

(v)      Immediately upon the expiration of a default period, (x) the right of the holders of Preferred Stock as a class to elect Directors shall
cease, (y) the term of any Directors elected by the holders of Preferred Stock as a class shall terminate, and (z) the number of Directors shall be such number
as may be provided for in the Restated Articles of Incorporation or bylaws irrespective of any increase made pursuant to the provisions of paragraph (C)(ii) of
this Section 5 (such number being subject, however, to change thereafter in any manner provided by law or in the Restated Articles of Incorporation or
bylaws). Any vacancies in the Board of Directors effected by the provisions of clauses (y) and (z) in the preceding sentence may be filled by a majority of the
remaining Directors.
 

(D)      Except as set forth herein, holders of Preferred Stock shall have no special voting rights and their consent shall not be required (except to the
extent they are entitled to vote with holders of Common Stock as set forth herein) for taking any corporate action.
 

SECTION 6. CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS.
 

(A)      Whenever quarterly dividends or other dividends or distributions payable on the Preferred Stock as provided in Section 2 are in arrears,
thereafter and until all accrued and unpaid dividends and distributions, whether or not declared, on shares of Preferred Stock outstanding shall have been paid
in full, the Corporation shall not:
 

(i)      declare or pay dividends on, make any other distributions on, or redeem or purchase or otherwise acquire for consideration any shares
of stock ranking junior (either as to dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up) to the Preferred Stock;

 
(ii)      declare or pay dividends on or make any other distributions on any shares of stock ranking on a parity (either as to dividends or upon

liquidation, dissolution or winding up) with the Preferred Stock, except dividends paid ratably on the Preferred Stock and all such parity stock on
which dividends are payable or in arrears in proportion to the total amounts to which the holders of all such shares are then entitled;

 



(iii)      redeem or purchase or otherwise acquire for consideration shares of any stock ranking junior (either as to dividends or upon
liquidation, dissolution or winding up) to the Preferred Stock; PROVIDED THAT the Corporation may at any time redeem, purchase or otherwise
acquire shares of any such junior stock in exchange for shares of any stock of the Corporation ranking junior (either as to dividends or upon
dissolution, liquidation or winding up) to the Preferred Stock; or

 
(iv)      purchase or otherwise acquire for consideration any shares of Preferred Stock, or any shares of stock ranking on a parity with the

Preferred Stock, except in accordance with a purchase offer made in writing or by publication (as determined by the Board of Directors) to all
holders of such shares upon such terms as the Board of Directors, after consideration of the respective annual dividend rates and other relative rights
and preferences of the respective series and classes, shall determine in good faith will result in fair and equitable treatment among the respective
series or classes.

 
(B)      The Corporation shall not permit any subsidiary of the Corporation to purchase or otherwise acquire for consideration any shares of stock of

the Corporation unless the Corporation could, under paragraph (A) of this Section 6, purchase or otherwise acquire such shares at such time and in such
manner.
 

SECTION 7. REACQUIRED SHARES. Any shares of Preferred Stock purchased or otherwise acquired by the Corporation in any manner
whatsoever shall be retired and canceled promptly after the acquisition thereof. All such shares shall upon their cancellation become authorized but unissued
shares of Preferred Stock and may be reissued as part of a new series of Preferred Stock to be created by resolution or resolutions of the Board of Directors,
subject to the conditions and restrictions on issuance set forth herein.
 

SECTION 8. CONSOLIDATION, MERGER, ETC. In case the Corporation shall enter into any consolidation, merger, combination or other
transaction in which the shares of Common Stock are exchanged for or changed into other stock or securities, cash and/or any other property, then in any such
case the shares of Preferred Stock shall at the same time be similarly exchanged or changed in an amount per share (subject to the provision for adjustment
hereinafter set forth) equal to 100 times the aggregate amount of stock, securities, cash and/or any other property (payable in kind), as the case may be, into
which or for which each share of Common Stock is changed or exchanged. In the event the Corporation shall at any time declare or pay any dividend on
Common Stock payable in shares of Common Stock, or effect a subdivision or combination of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (by reclassification
or otherwise) into a greater or lesser number of shares of Common Stock, then in each such case the amount set forth in the preceding sentence with respect to
the exchange or change of shares of Preferred Stock shall be adjusted by multiplying such amount by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of
shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after such event and the denominator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock that were
outstanding immediately prior to such event.
 

SECTION 9. AMENDMENT. The Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Corporation shall not be amended in any manner which would
materially alter or change the powers, preferences or special rights of the Preferred Stock so as to affect them adversely without the affirmative vote of the
holders of two-thirds or more of the outstanding shares of Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that at any time that
there are no outstanding shares of Preferred Stock and no outstanding rights, warrants or options to acquire shares of Preferred Stock, the Board of Directors
may amend the powers, preferences and rights of Preferred Stock or convert such shares of Preferred Stock into authorized but unissued shares of preferred
stock which may be reissued as part of a new series of preferred stock in accordance with the provisions of the Restated Articles of Incorporation.
 

SECTION 10. FRACTIONAL SHARES. The Preferred Stock may be issued in fractions of a share which shall entitle the holder, in proportion to
such holder's fractional shares, to exercise voting rights, receive dividends, participate in distributions and have the benefit of all other rights of holders of the
Preferred Stock.
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have executed and subscribed this Certificate and do affirm the foregoing as true under the penalties of perjury.
 

 
Dated: June 2, 1997                         /s/ Richard J. Schalter                    

Richard J. Schalter
Secretary and Chief Financial Officer

 



 
 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATION, PREFERENCES AND
RIGHTS OF SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK

 
of

 
SPARTAN MOTORS, INC.

 
                    Pursuant to Section 302 of the Michigan Business Corporation Act:
 
                    I, James W. Knapp, Secretary of SPARTAN MOTORS, INC., a corporation organized and existing under the Michigan Business Corporation Act
(the " Corporation "), in accordance with the provisions of Section 302 thereof, DO HEREBY CERTIFY:
 
                    That pursuant to the authority conferred upon the Board of Directors of the Corporation by the Articles of Incorporation of the Corporation, the
Board of Directors on June 14, 2007, adopted the following resolution, effective July 7, 2007, creating a series of 400,000 shares of Preferred Stock
designated as Series B Preferred Stock:
 
                    RESOLVED, that pursuant to the authority vested in the Board of Directors of this Corporation in accordance with the provisions of its Articles
of Incorporation, a series of Series B Preferred Shares of the Corporation be and it hereby is created, and that the designation and amount thereof and the
voting powers, preferences and relative, participating, optional and other special rights of the shares of such series, and the qualifications, limitations or
restrictions thereof are as follows:
 
          Section 1. Designation and Amount . The shares of such series shall be designated as " Series B Preferred Stock " and the number of shares
constituting such series shall be 400,000.
 
          Section 2. Dividends and Distributions .
 
          (A)          Subject to the prior and superior rights of the holders of shares of any other class or series of Preferred Stock ranking prior and superior to the
shares of Series B Preferred Stock with respect to the holders of shares of Series B Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the
Board of Directors out of funds legally available for the purpose, quarterly dividends payable in cash on the fifteenth day of March, June, September and
December in each year (each such date being referred to herein as a " Quarterly Dividend Payment Date "), commencing on the first Quarterly Dividend
Payment Date after the first issuance of a share or fraction of a share of Series B Preferred Shares, in an amount per share (rounded to the nearest cent) equal
to the greater of (a)  $12.50 or (b) subject to the provision for adjustment set forth in this document, 100 times the aggregate per share amount of all cash
dividends, and 100 times the aggregate per share amount (payable in kind) of all non-cash dividends or other distributions, other than a dividend payable in
the Corporation's Common Shares or a subdivision of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (by reclassification or otherwise), declared on the Common
Shares, $0.01 par value per share, of the Corporation (the " Common Stock ") since the immediately preceding Quarterly Dividend Payment Date, or, with
respect to the first Quarterly Dividend Payment Date, since the first issuance of any share or fraction of a share of Series B Preferred Stock. In the event the
Corporation shall at any time on or after July 7, 2007 (the " Rights Declaration Date ") (i) declare any dividend on Common Stock payable in shares of
Common Stock, (ii) subdivide the outstanding Common Stock, or (iii) combine the outstanding Common Stock into a smaller number of shares, then in each
such case the amount to which holders of shares of Series B Preferred Stock were entitled immediately prior to such event under clause (b) of the preceding
sentence shall be adjusted by multiplying such amount by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding
immediately after such event and the denominator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock that were outstanding immediately prior to such event.
 
          (B)          The Corporation shall declare a dividend or distribution on the Series B Preferred Stock as provided in paragraph (A) above immediately after
it declares a dividend or distribution on the Common Stock (other than a dividend payable in shares of Common Stock); provided that, in the event no
dividend or distribution shall have been declared on the Common Stock during the period between any Quarterly Dividend Payment Date and the next
subsequent Quarterly Dividend Payment Date, a dividend of $12.50 per share on the Series B Preferred Stock shall nevertheless be payable on such
subsequent Quarterly Dividend Payment Date.
 
          (C)          Dividends shall begin to accrue and be cumulative on outstanding shares of Series B Preferred Stock from the Quarterly Dividend Payment
Date next preceding the date of issue of such shares of Series B Preferred Stock, unless the date of issue of such shares is prior to the record date for the first
Quarterly Dividend Payment Date, in which case dividends on such shares shall begin to accrue from the date of issue of such shares, or unless the date of
issue is a Quarterly Dividend Payment Date or is a date after the record date for the determination of holders of shares of Series B Preferred Stock entitled to
receive a quarterly dividend and before such Quarterly Dividend Payment Date, in either of which events such dividends shall begin to accrue and be
cumulative from such Quarterly Dividend Payment Date. Accrued but unpaid dividends shall not bear interest. Dividends paid on the shares of Series B
Preferred Stock in an amount less than the total amount of such dividends at the time accrued and payable on such shares shall be allocated pro rata on a
share-by-share basis among all such shares at the time outstanding. The Board of Directors may fix a record date for the determination of holders of shares of
Series B Preferred Stock entitled to receive payment of a dividend or distribution declared thereon, which record date shall be no more than 60 days prior to
the date fixed for the payment thereof.
 
          Section 3. Voting Rights . The holders of shares of Series B Preferred Stock shall have the following voting rights:
 
          (A)          Subject to the provision for adjustment set forth in this document, each share of Series B Preferred Stock shall entitle the holder thereof to 100
votes on all matters submitted to a vote of the shareholders of the Corporation. In the event the Corporation shall at any time after the Rights Declaration Date
(i) declare any dividend on Common Stock payable in shares of Common Stock, (ii) subdivide the outstanding Common Stock, or (iii)  combine the
outstanding Common Stock into a smaller number of shares, then in each such case the number of votes per share to which holders of shares of Series B
Preferred Stock were entitled immediately prior to such event shall be adjusted by multiplying such number by a fraction the numerator of which is the
number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after such event and the denominator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock that
were outstanding immediately prior to such event.
 
          (B)          Except as otherwise provided herein or by law, the holders of shares of Series B Preferred Stock and the holders of shares of Common Stock
shall vote together as one class on all matters submitted to a vote of shareholders of the Corporation.
 



(C)          (i) If at any time dividends on any Series B Preferred Stock shall be in arrears in an amount equal to six quarterly dividends thereon, the
occurrence of such contingency shall mark the beginning of a period (herein called a " default period ") which shall extend until such time when all accrued
and unpaid dividends for all previous quarterly dividend periods and for the current quarterly dividend period on all shares of Series B Preferred Stock then
outstanding shall have been declared and paid or set apart for payment. During each default period, all holders of Series B Preferred Stock with dividends in
arrears in an amount equal to six quarterly dividends thereon, voting as a class, irrespective of series, shall have the right to elect two Directors.
 
          (ii)          During any default period, such voting right of the holders of Series B Preferred Stock may be exercised initially at a special meeting called
pursuant to subparagraph (iii) of this Section 3(C) or at any annual meeting of shareholders, and thereafter at annual meetings of shareholders, provided that
neither such voting right to increase, in certain cases, the authorized number of Directors shall be exercised unless the holders of 10% in number of shares of
Preferred Shares outstanding shall be present in person or by proxy. The absence of a quorum of the holders of Common Stock shall not affect the exercise by
the holders of Series B Preferred Stock of such voting right. At any meeting at which the holders of Series B Preferred Stock shall exercise such voting right
initially during an existing default period, they shall have the right, voting as a class, to elect Directors to fill such vacancies, if any, in the Board of Directors
as may then exist up to two Directors or, if such right is exercised at an annual meeting, to elect two Directors. If the number which may be so elected at any
special meeting does not amount to the required number, the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock shall have the right to make such increase in the number
of Directors as shall be necessary to permit the election by them of the required number. After the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock shall have exercised
their right to elect Directors in any default period and during the continuance of such period, the number of Directors shall not be increased or decreased
except by vote of the holders of Series B Preferred Stock as herein provided or pursuant to the rights of any equity securities ranking senior to or pari passu
with the Series B Preferred Stock.
 
 
 
          (iii)          Unless the holders of Series B Preferred Stock shall, during an existing default period, have previously exercised their right to elect Directors,
the Board of Directors may order, or any shareholder or shareholders owning in the aggregate not less than 10% of the total number of shares of Series B
Preferred Stock outstanding, irrespective of series, may request, the calling of a special meeting of the holders of Series B Preferred Stock, which meeting
shall thereupon be called by the President or Chief Executive Officer, a Vice President or the Secretary of the Corporation. Notice of such meeting and of any
annual meeting at which holders of Series B Preferred Shares are entitled to vote pursuant to this paragraph (C) (iii) shall be given to each holder of record of
Series B Preferred Stock by mailing a copy of such notice to him at his last address as the same appears on the books of the Corporation. Such meeting shall
be called for a time not earlier than 20 days and not later than 60 days after such order or request or in default of the calling of such meeting within 60 days
after such order or request, such meeting may be called on similar notice by any shareholder or shareholders owning in the aggregate not less than 10% of the
total number of shares of Series B Preferred Stock outstanding. Notwithstanding the provisions of this paragraph (C)(iii), no such special meeting shall be
called during the period within 60 days immediately preceding the date fixed for the next annual meeting of the shareholders.
 
          (iv)          In any default period, the holders of Common Stock, and other classes of stock of the Corporation if applicable, shall continue to be entitled
to elect the whole number of Directors until the holders of Series B Preferred Stock shall have exercised their right to elect two Directors voting as a class,
after the exercise of which right (x) the Directors so elected by the holders of Series B Preferred Stock shall continue in office until their successors shall have
been elected by such holders or until the expiration of the default period, and (y) any vacancy in the Board of Directors may (except as provided in
paragraph (C)(ii) of this Section 3) be filled by vote of a majority of the remaining Directors theretofore elected by the holders of the class of stock which
elected the Director whose office shall have become vacant. References in this paragraph (C) to Directors elected by the holders of a particular class of stock
shall include Directors elected by such Directors to fill vacancies as provided in clause (y) of the foregoing sentence.
 
          (v)          Immediately upon the expiration of a default period, (x) the right of the holders of Series B Preferred Stock as a class to elect Directors shall
cease, (y) the term of any Directors elected by the holders of Series B Preferred Stock as a class shall terminate, and (z) the number of Directors shall be such
number as may be provided for in the Articles of Incorporation or By-laws irrespective of any increase made pursuant to the provisions of paragraph (C)(ii) of
this Section 3 (such number being subject, however, to change thereafter in any manner provided by law or in the Articles of Incorporation or By-laws). Any
vacancies in the Board of Directors effected by the provisions of clauses (y) and (z) in the preceding sentence may be filled by a majority of the remaining
Directors.
 
          (D)          Except as set forth herein, holders of Series B Preferred Stock shall have no special voting rights and their consent shall not be required
(except to the extent they are entitled to vote with holders of Common Stock as set forth herein) for taking any corporate action.
 
          Section 4. Certain Restrictions .
 
          (A)          Whenever quarterly dividends or other dividends or distributions payable on the Series B Preferred Stock as provided in Section 2 are in
arrears, thereafter and until all accrued and unpaid dividends and distributions, whether or not declared, on shares of Series B Preferred Stock outstanding
shall have been paid in full, the Corporation shall not:
 
          (i)          declare or pay dividends on, make any other distributions on, or redeem or purchase or otherwise acquire for consideration any shares of stock
ranking junior (either as to dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up) to the Series B Preferred Stock;
 
          (ii)          declare or pay dividends on or make any other distributions on any shares of stock ranking on a parity (either as to dividends or upon
liquidation, dissolution or winding up) with the Series B Preferred Stock, except dividends paid ratably on the Series B Preferred Stock and all such parity
stock on which dividends are payable or in arrears in proportion to the total amounts to which the holders of all such shares are then entitled;
 
          (iii)          redeem or purchase or otherwise acquire for consideration shares of any stock ranking on a parity (either as to dividends or upon liquidation,
dissolution or winding up) with the Series B Preferred Stock, provided that the Corporation may at any time redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire shares of
any such parity stock in exchange for shares of any stock of the Corporation ranking junior (either as to dividends or upon dissolution, liquidation or winding
up) to the Series B Preferred Stock;
 
          (iv)          purchase or otherwise acquire for consideration any shares of Series B Preferred Stock, or any shares of stock ranking on a parity with the
Series B Preferred Stock, except in accordance with a purchase offer made in writing or by publication (as determined by the Board of Directors) to all
holders of such shares upon such terms as the Board of Directors, after consideration of the respective annual dividend rates and other relative rights and
preferences of the respective series and classes, shall determine in good faith will result in fair and equitable treatment among the respective series or classes.
 
          (B)          The Corporation shall not permit any subsidiary of the Corporation to purchase or otherwise acquire for consideration any shares of stock of
the Corporation unless the Corporation could, under paragraph (A) of this Section 4, purchase or otherwise acquire such shares at such time and in such
manner.



 
          Section 5. Reacquired Shares . Any shares of Series B Preferred Stock purchased or otherwise acquired by the Corporation in any manner whatsoever
shall be retired and canceled promptly after the acquisition thereof. All such shares shall upon their cancellation become authorized but unissued shares of
Series B Preferred Stock and may be reissued as part of a new series of Preferred Shares to be created by resolution or resolutions of the Board of Directors,
subject to the conditions and restrictions on issuance set forth herein.
 
          Section 6. Liquidation , Dissolution or Winding Up .
 
          (A)          Upon any liquidation (voluntary or otherwise), dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, no distribution shall be made to the holders of
shares of stock ranking junior (either as to dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up) to the Series B Preferred Stock unless, prior thereto, the
holders of shares of Series B Preferred Stock shall have received $250.00 per share, plus an amount equal to accrued and unpaid dividends and distributions
thereon, whether or not declared, to the date of such payment (the " Series B Liquidation Preference "). Following the payment of the full amount of the
Series B Liquidation Preference, no additional distributions shall be made to the holders of shares of Series B Preferred Stock unless, prior thereto, the holders
of shares of Common Stock shall have received an amount per share (the " Common Adjustment ") equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (i) the Series
B Liquidation Preference by (ii) 100 (as appropriately adjusted as set forth in subparagraph C below to reflect such events as stock splits, stock dividends and
recapitalizations with respect to the Common Stock) (such number in clause (ii), the " Adjustment Number "). Following the payment of the full amount of
the Series B Liquidation Preference and the Common Adjustment in respect of all outstanding shares of Series B Preferred Stock and Common Stock,
respectively, holders of Series B Preferred Stock and holders of shares of Common Stock shall receive their ratable and proportionate share of the remaining
assets to be distributed in the ratio of the Adjustment Number to 1 with respect to such Preferred Shares and Common Stock, on a per share basis,
respectively.
 
          (B)          In the event, however, that there are not sufficient assets available to permit payment in full of the Series B Liquidation Preference and the
liquidation preferences of all other series of preferred stock, if any, which rank senior to or on parity with the Series B Preferred Stock, then such remaining
assets shall be distributed ratably to the holders of such parity shares in proportion to their respective liquidation preferences. In the event, however, that there
are not sufficient assets available to permit payment in full of the Common Adjustment, then such remaining assets shall be distributed ratably to the holders
of Common Stock.
 
          (C)          In the event the Corporation shall at any time after the Rights Declaration Date (i) declare any dividend on Common Stock payable in shares
of Common Stock, (ii) subdivide the outstanding Common Stock, or (iii) combine the outstanding Common Stock into a smaller number of shares, then in
each such case the Adjustment Number in effect immediately prior to such event shall be adjusted by multiplying such Adjustment Number by a fraction the
numerator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after such event and the denominator of which is the number of
shares of Common Stock that were outstanding immediately prior to such event.
 
          Section 7. Consolidation , Merger , etc . In case the Corporation shall enter into any consolidation, merger, combination or other transaction in which
the shares of Common Stock are exchanged for or changed into other stock or securities, cash and/or any other property, then in any such case the shares of
Series B Preferred Stock shall at the same time be similarly exchanged or changed in an amount per share (subject to the provision for adjustment hereinafter
set forth) equal to 100 times the aggregate amount of stock, securities, cash and/or any other property (payable in kind), as the case may be, into which or for
each share of Common Stock is changed or exchanged. In the event the Corporation shall at any time after the Rights Declaration Date (i) declare any
dividend on Common Stock payable in shares of Common Stock, (ii) subdivide the outstanding Common Stock, or (iii) combine the outstanding Common
Stock into a smaller number of shares, then in each such case the amount set forth in the preceding sentence with respect to the exchange or change of shares
of Series B Preferred Stock shall be adjusted by multiplying such amount by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock
outstanding immediately after such event and the denominator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock that were outstanding immediately prior to
such event.
 
          Section 8. No Redemption . The shares of Series B Preferred Stock shall not be redeemable.
 
          Section 9. Termination of Series A Preferred Stock . The Certificate of Designation of Rights and Preferences of Preferred Stock relating to Series A
Preferred Stock filed with the Michigan Department of Commerce, Corporation and Securities Bureau on June 25, 1997 in connection with the Rights
Agreement between Spartan Motors, Inc. and American Stock Transfer & Trust Co. dated June 4, 1997 are hereby terminated and canceled.
 
          Section 10. Amendment . The Articles of Incorporation of the Corporation shall not be further amended in any manner which would materially alter or
change the powers, preferences or special rights of the Series B Preferred Stock so as to affect them adversely without the affirmative vote of the holders of a
majority or more of the outstanding shares of Series B Preferred Stock, voting separately as a class; provided, that at any time that there are no outstanding
shares of Series B Preferred Stock and no outstanding rights, warrants, or options to acquire shares of Series B Preferred Stock, the Board of Directors may
amend the powers, preferences, and rights of the Series B Preferred Stock or convert such shares of Series B Preferred Stock into authorized but unissued
shares of Preferred Shares which may be reissued as part of a new series of Preferred Shares in accordance with the provisions of the Articles of
Incorporation.
 
          Section 11. Fractional Shares . Series B Preferred Stock may be issued in fractions of a share which shall entitle the holder, in proportion to such
holders fractional shares, to exercise voting rights, receive dividends, participate in distributions and to have the benefit of all other rights of holders of Series
B Preferred Stock.
 
          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have executed and subscribed this Certificate and do affirm the foregoing as true as of this 9th day of July, 2007.
 
                              /s/ James W. Knapp                         

James W. Knapp
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer, and Secretary

 

 By amendment effective May 29, 2007, authorized capital was increased to a total of 40,000,000 common shares and 2,000,000 preferred shares. By
amendment effective June 7, 2017, authorized capital was increased to a total of 80,000,000 common shares and 2,000,000 preferred shares.
 current addresses and the current resident agent, which have changed since the Articles were last restated in their entirety effective July 16, 1996.

1

2


